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PRODUCTION AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

FY2021 FY2020 % CHANGE 
GOLD PRODUCTION (ounces) 

73,206 ozs 67,552 ozs Up 8.4% 
   

AVERAGE GOLD RECOVERY (% of head 
grade) 

  

84.5% 72.2% Up 17.0% 
   

LOST TIME INJURIES   
NIL NIL Nil  no lost time injuries  

   
SALES REVENUE (US$ MILLIONS)   

$129.8 $122.1 Up 6.3% 
   

OPERATING PROFIT (US$ MILLIONS)   
$29.4 $30.5 Down 3.6% 

   
PROFIT BEFORE TAX (US$ MILLIONS)   

$11.3 $9.4 (as restated)* Up 19.8% 
   
FREE CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 
(US$ MILLIONS) 

  

$46.5 $28.8 Up 61.5% 
   

NET DEBT (US$ MILLIONS)   
$98.9 $120.4 Down 17.9% 

   
TOTAL DEBT REPAYMENTS (US$ MILLIONS)   

$39.7 $12.0 Up 230.8% 
   
TOTAL GOVERNMENT TAXES & FEES (US$ 
MILLIONS) 

  

$12.3 $10.5 Up 17.1% 
   
TOTAL COMMUNITY PROGRAM 
EXPENDITURE (US$ MILLIONS) 

  

$1.9 $1.1 Up 72.7% 
   
 
* Refer note 1 Accounting policies  Prior period adjustment 
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Dear Shareholder, 
 

board of directors of 
 excellent 

progress and deliver record numbers in terms of annual gold recovery, sale proceeds and gold poured for 
the year ended 31 December 2021. 
  
Safety, as always, remains the utmost priority to the Company, and our record to date is an achievement 
that everyone at the Company is very proud of. As at the date of this report, we have recorded over 16 
million hours worked without a reportable injury. This really is an outstanding accomplishment and 
something that we are not only delighted with but will continue to focus on. The safety of our staff is not 
just limited to mining operations. Our team and the communities they live in are at the heart of our 
Company, and ensuring their wellbeing is vital for the continued operations of the business. With this in 
mind, a key focus of our safety and health operations has been the staff and contractor COVID-19 
vaccination programme. Again, we are incredibly proud that, at present, over 93% of all staff and 
contractors have received at least two vaccination doses. 
 
Operationally, the period under review has seen continued excellent progress with the changes 
implemented by the management team bearing fruit, as can be seen by the record results delivered for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. The Company made record gold sales of 72,447 oz, equating to record gold 
sales proceeds of US$130 million. This was achieved through record average gold recovery rates of 
approximately 85% for the year, a steady increase from the 2018 average of 58%. Additionally, a significant 
amount of work was done to review and complete a detailed new mine design, whilst at the plant, gold 
recovery is now consistently achieving more than 80%, a testament to all the critical actions taken by the 
team. 
 

bt has remained a key focus. The Company has made 
significant progress in this area, reducing our total debt by US$21.5 million during the period. As a result, 
the Company expects its Senior Debt facility to be repaid in full during Q4 2022. At such time, the 

mezzanine debt facility will revert to an interest rate of 7% per annum, down from 15% per 
annum. This will be a very considerable achievement, having very significant positive ramifications for the 
future development of the business, enabling the Company to utilise funds that would have been 
earmarked for debt repayments for exploration and appropriate M&A activities. 
 
ESG (environment, social and governance) remains at the forefront of what we do at Metals Exploration. 
We have a long track record of operating in the Philippines, with over 98% of our workforce being Filipino. 
Working with the local communities where we operate, as mentioned above, remains a core part of our 
business and strategy. We continue to prioritise the development of our local community and have strong 
partnerships with the various national agencies and local governments from Barangay to the Provincial 
level. Our community programme remains focused on health, education and infrastructure building, 
amongst others, and we have adapted our programmes with further community support to provide food 
and relief supplies to local communities/families during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
From an environmental standpoint, we continue to ensure that we operate to the highest standards. We 
remain active in promoting responsible mining practices to actively reduce the potential environmental 
impacts of our operations and enhance the environmental performance in mined-out and disturbed areas. 
We are also responsible for planting over two million endemic and cash crop trees and have received 
multiple Best Forestry Management Program awards from the Philippine Government. As a Company and a 
business, the continued driving thrust will always remain towards the goal of sustainable development and 
reducing potential significant impacts of the Runruno operations upon the environment. 
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The Company remains well positioned and very focused on its strategy, focusing on near term mine growth 
and exploration to increase  life of mine beyond 2027.  Why is this the focus? This will enable the 
Company to generate greater cash flow and provide a longer timeline to build the business.     
 
On the exploration side, the Board believes there is exploration upside at Runruno, both in and out of pit, to 
extend current mine life. The Company to date has had very limited resources to allocate to further 
exploration of the areas surrounding Runruno. However, approvals have now been obtained to allocate 
funds to exploration, and it is anticipated that our accelerated exploration programme for 2022 will be a 
catalyst of resource growth. 
 
The Company has significant technical expertise of operating in the Philippines. This combined with our 
operational and environmental track record and community relations building excellent relationships with 
the appropriate agencies and offices, leaves us very well positioned to look at appropriate in-country M&A 
opportunities. These opportunities, the Board believes, will create a larger and more structured business 
with multiple mines, which will have the ability to deliver significant shareholder value. 
 
On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our entire workforce for all their 
efforts this year as well as all our stakeholders and investors for their continued support. 
 
The Company is well positioned for the year ahead, with the accelerated repayment of our debt greatly 
strengthening our financial position. We will aim to continue to improve the operational performance at 
Runruno and now have an active exploration programme, which we believe will lead to further resource 
growth whilst also evaluating appropriate M&A opportunities. This strategy and outlook we believe will 
build a larger, better structured business which will be better equipped to deliver further value to all our 
shareholders. We look forward to providing further updates as we deliver this strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
David Cather 
Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
13 May 2022 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
To comply with the AIM Rules for Comp

-size quoted companies (as 
a 

QCA  
 
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining appropriately high standards of corporate governance 
and, where possible, it has put in place governance structures that would be expected in light of the 

 
 

relationship agreements and a revolving credit 
facility (the 

restructuring.  
 
The Relationship Agreements regulate the relationship between the Company and its two largest 
shareholders to ensure, amongst other things, that the Group and its business shall be managed for the 
benefit of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Relationship Agreements grant each 
shareholder the right to appoint one director, for so long as it (together with its successors or assigns) 
continues to hold more than 10% of the voting rights of the Company.  
 
The RCF sets out the remuneration payable to directors nominated by the two largest shareholders. 
Further, the RCF requires the prior consent of both these shareholders (together with its successors or 
assigns) for the Company to undertake a number of operational decisions. 
 

rinciples of the QCA Code, and details of where it may not 
comply with these principles, are detailed below. 
 
 Principle  Disclosure  
1 Establish a 

strategy and 
business model 
which promotes 
long-term value 
for shareholders 
 
 

Metals Exploration Plc is a mineral resources exploration and development company. It owns 
100% of the Runruno Gold Project located in the north of the Philippines. It is registered in 
England and Wales and quoted on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange with ticker 
identity MTL. Metals Exploration`s management strategy and corporate plan is to: 

- Provide shareholders with capital growth potential, delivered by developing a mineral 
project into a profitable mine. 

- Undertake cost-effective and precise exploration on those targets considered most likely 
to deliver future positive shareholder returns. 

- Respect the indigenous culture of the exploration and development areas and to 
promote social and economic development for the traditional custodians. 

- Manage the inherent value of its mining properties portfolio by delivering an efficient 
mining operation. 

- Conduct operations in a safe and environmentally responsible manner to industry best 
practice standards. 

- Offer employment opportunities to those who live in the project area. 
- Rewarding lo  
- Consider acquisition opportunities to foster additional long term capital growth 

potential. 
 
This Annual Report sets out a number of the key risks and uncertainties that may represent 
challenges to the successful execution 
such risks and uncertainties are managed by the Company. These risks are set out in the following 
Directors Report and notes 32 and 33 to the financial statements. 
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2 Seek to 

understand and 
meet shareholder 
needs and 
expectations 

The Company engages openly with its shareholders. Communications occur via its corporate 
website and other social media platforms, investor webinars, the publication of its Annual Report 
and the Interim Results, trading and other announcements made via a regulatory information 
service and at its Annual General Meeting and General Meetings where the Board encourages 
investors to participate, if possible.  
 

and specific disclosures required under the AIM Rules and the QCA Code. Following the 

presentations either in person or electronically to shareholders, private client brokers and 
investment analysts, as appropriate. Periodic meetings and site visits may be held with existing and 

broker to the Board. 
 

3 Consider 
stakeholder and 
social 
responsibilities 
and their 
implications for 
long term-
success 

The Company recognises its responsibility to promote its success for the benefit of all its 
stakeholders and understands that the business has a responsibility towards its shareholders, 
employees, partners, customers, funders, suppliers and to the local communities where its projects 
and operations are based.  
 
The Board is also conscious that the tone and culture that it sets will impact all aspects of the 
Company and the way its employees behave and operate. The importance of maintaining sound 
ethical values and behaviours is crucial to the ability of the Company to successfully achieve its 
corporate objectives. The Company has close ongoing relationships with a broad range of 
stakeholders, monitoring feedback from them and considers such feedback in developing future 
policy. 
 
The Company undertakes its exploration and mining activities in a manner that seeks to minimise 
or eliminate negative environmental impacts and that seeks to maximise positive impacts of an 
environmental nature. As a mining company, the Company ensures proper environmental 
stewardship on its projects that promotes convergence around common environmental and social 
standards. 
 
The Company operates a comprehensive health and safety programme to ensure the wellness and 
security of its employees. The control and eventual elimination of all work related hazards requires 
a dedicated team effort involving the active participation of all employees. A comprehensive health 
and safety programme is the primary means for delivering best practices in health and safety 

learned from past incidents and guidelines related to new projects with the aim of identifying areas 
for further improvement in health and safety management. This results in continuous 
improvement in the health and safety programme. 
 
Employment opportunities and regular training are offered for local Filipinos, while gender 
diversity policies are actively followed. 
 
Employee involvement is fundamental in recognising and reporting unsafe conditions and avoiding 
events that may result in injuries and accidents. 
 
The Group has a dedicated community relations division that is active in developing and assisting 
with various community social programs with special focus on health, education and infrastructure 
projects. 
 

4 Embed effective 
risk 
management, 
considering both 
opportunities 
and threats, 
throughout the 
organisation 

effectiveness. The system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to 
achieve the execution of the  
 
The Board monitors financial controls through the setting and approval of an annual budget and a 
formal delegation of authority matrix combined with the regular review of key risk areas and 
monthly management accounts. The management accounts contain a number of indicators that 
are designed to reduce the possibility of mis-statement in the financial statements.  
 
Each year, on behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the 
Compan
risks which cover both financial and non-financial issues potentially affecting the Group and from 
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discussions with the external auditor. Details of the key risks, and their management, are contained 
in the  Report and notes 32 and 33 to the financial statements.  
 

of internal controls. 
 
Operational risk management is the driver for how the Group does business and dictates 
requirements to design, plan and adequately respond to internal and external events. This ensures 
that proper incident response, and effective monitoring can be implemented to minimise 

operations. 
 
The health of the Group
priority in mitigating the risks emanating from the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 

5 
 

Maintain the 
Board as a well-
functioning, 
balanced team 
led by the Chair 

The purpose of the Board is to ensure that the business is managed for the long-term benefit of all 
shareholders, whilst at the same time having regard for employees, customers, suppliers and our 
impact on the environment and the communities in which we operate. The full Board is responsible 
and accountable to shareholders for the management and success of the Group and for providing 
effective controls to assess and manage the risks that the Group faces.  
 

-to-day basis by the Chief 

Group through monthly performance reporting, budget updates and periodic operational reviews.  
 
The Company is currently led by a Board comprising: 

- an Independent Non-Executive Chairman (David Cather); 
- the CEO (Darren Bowden); 
- an Independent Non-Executive Director (Tim Livesey);  
- a Non-Executive Director (Andrew Chubb); 
- a Non-Executive Director nominated to the Board by the substantial shareholder MTL Lux 

(Steven Smith); 
- a Non-Executive Director nominated to the Board by the substantial shareholder RHL 

(Guy Walker). 
 
The two directors nominated by MTL (Lux) and RHL are not independent but have relevant 
experience from which the Company can benefit. Andrew Chubb is not independent, as he is a 

s the Company in this role. 
 
The members of the Board as a whole have suitable knowledge of the Company and expertise to 
discharge their duties and responsibilities effectively. All Directors are encouraged to use their 
independent judgement and to challenge all matters, whether strategic or operational. Any 
Director must declare a conflict of interest in relation to a particular item of business before 
commencement of discussion on the topic. The appointment of three Non-Executive Directors, 

largest shareholders, in April 2021, has improved the impartiality 
of the Board in effective decision making, as well as providing the Board with additional mining and 
corporate industry experience.  
 

ciently as possible. It 
meets formally at least five times a year, to discuss a broad range of significant matters including 
vision, strategy, operational performance, funding and financial performance. All significant 
decisions are made by the Directors with all Directors participating in the key areas of decision-
making, including the appointment of new Directors. The Board receives timely information on all 
material aspects of the Group to enable it to discharge its duties. The CEO provides an appraisal of 
the current status and short-term plans for operational and development activities. In addition to 
its fixed meeting schedule the Board convenes restricted agenda meetings on an ad hoc basis. 
Minutes of the meetings of the Directors are circulated to the Board for approval. 
 
On appointment Non-Executive Directors warrant to commit sufficient time on the business of the 
Company to maintain a full understanding of the business which will include 
operations in the Philippines on a regular basis, when possible.  
 
The Board has delegated some of its responsibilities to various Committees, which operate within 
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specific terms of reference . In the event of a 
proposal to appoint a new Director, each Director is given the opportunity to meet the candidate 
prior to any formal decision being taken. Under the Articles and the RCF, new director 

size of the Company, no Nomination Committee has been established. 
 

as decided upon by the Board. The Chairman is supported by an experienced Chief Financial Officer 
("CFO") for all financial related matters and an experienced Company Secretary ("CoSec") who 
assists the Chairman with preparation for and to run effective Board meetings. The CFO and CoSec 
advise the Chair and the Board on financial, legal and governance developments. 
 
The Board, in discharging its corporate governance responsibilities, ensures that: 

- the Company is led by an effective Board of Directors which is collectively responsible for 
the long-term success of the Company; 

- the Board and its Committees have the appropriate balance of skills, experience, 
independence and knowledge of the Company to enable them to discharge their 
respective duties and responsibilities effectively; 

- the Board establishes formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it 
applies corporate reporting, risk management, and internal control principles; 

- it maintains an appropriate relationship with the Company's auditors; and 
- there is a dialogue with shareholders based on a mutual understanding of objectives. 

 
The Company has established an Audit Committee comprising the three non-shareholder 
appointed Non-Executive Directors, all of whom have relevant financial experience. The CFO 
attends audit committee meetings upon the invitation from the members and provides additional 
support where required. Directors attendance at audit committee meetings held during the year 
are disclosed in the Directors Report. 
 
The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for: 
 

- agreeing the scope of and reviewing the results of the audit; 
-  remuneration and ensuring auditor independence and objectivity; 
- monitoring audit partner tenure; 
- recommending adoption of the annual and interim financial statements of the Company; 
- ensuring the financial records of the Company have been properly maintained; and 
- ensuring the financial statements comply with appropriate accounting standards to give a 

.  
 
The Audit Committee may examine any matters relating to the financial affairs of the Company 
including but not limited to its annual and interim financial statements and announcements, 
internal control procedures, accounting procedures and accounting policies.  
 
During the financial year the Audit Committee held three formal meetings in order to approve the 

n, informal meetings were held to consider 
various matters including the financial risks faced by the business and general accounting 
procedures. The Audit Committee will continue to closely monitor the financial risks faced by the 
business to progress mitigation of these. 
 
The external Auditors have direct access to the members of the Audit Committee, without 
presence of the executive management, for independent discussions. 
 
The main purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to determine and agree the framework or 
broad policy for and approval of terms of service, remuneration and other benefits of the Directors 
and senior officers. The Remuneration Committee comprises the three non-shareholder appointed 
Non-  Report.  
 
When making remuneration decisions the members take into consideration the size and nature of 
the business and the importance of retaining and motivating management. The Remuneration 
Committee meets when appropriate.  
 
There were two formal meeting of the Remuneration Committee during the financial year. 
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, the Non-

re-elected at Company Annual General Meetings. Further, their remuneration and terms and 
conditions of appointment are governed by the Relationship Agreements and the RCF. 
 
The remuneration and terms and conditions of appointment of Non-Executive Directors not 
nominated by the two largest shareholders is set by the Board and governed by the Articles.  
 
The Board and its various committees receive appropriate and timely information prior to each 
meeting. A formal agenda is produced for each meeting and board/committee papers are 
distributed several days before meetings take place. Any director can challenge proposals with 
decisions being taken after due discussion. Any director can ask for a concern to be noted in the 
minutes of the meeting which are circulated to all directors. Specific actions arising from meetings 
are agreed by the Board or relevant committee and then followed up by management.  
 

6 
 

Ensure that 
between them 
the directors 
have the 
necessary up-to-
date experience, 
skills and 
capabilities 

The current directors of the Company are: 
 

 David Cather Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
 Darren Bowden, CEO 
 Tim Livesey, Independent Non-Executive Director 
 Andrew Chubb, Non-Executive Director 
 Steven Smith, Non-Executive Director 
 Guy Walker, Non-Executive Director  

 

website. The experience and knowledge of each of the Directors gives them the ability to 
constructively challenge strategy and to scrutinise performance.  
 
MSP Corporate Services Limited, a professional company secretarial services provider, acts as 
Company Secretary.  
 

7 Evaluate Board 
performance 
based on clear 
and relevant 
objectives, 
seeking 
continuous 
improvement 

The Board appointed an independent Chairman and three Non-Executive Directors during 2021 to 
previously 

  
 
The collective performance of the Board is reflected in the success of the business. Evaluation of 
the performance of the Board, its Committees and individual members has historically been 
implemented on an on-  The 
Company does not therefore currently comply with Principle 7 in that it has no formal board 
evaluation process, however the recent expansion to the number of directors will allow the 
introduction, in due course, of a formal board evaluation process.  
 
Succession planning is currently the responsibility of the Board as a whole and the establishment of 
a Nominations Committee is not considered necessary due to the current size of the Board.  
 

8 
 

Promote a 
corporate culture 
that is based on 
ethical values 
and behaviours 
 

The Board recognises that its decisions will impact the corporate culture of the Group as a whole 
and that this will affect the performance of the business. The Board is also very conscious that the 
tone and culture that it sets will greatly impact all aspects of the Group and the way that 
employees behave and operate. The importance of maintaining sound ethical values and 
behaviours is crucial to the ability of the Group to successfully achieve its corporate objectives.  
 
The Company seeks to ensure that responsible business practice is fully integrated into the 
management of all its operations and into the culture of all parts of th
believes that the consistent adoption of responsible business practice is essential for operational 
excellence, which in turn is expected to ensure the delivery of its core objectives of, inter alia, 
sustained real growth in future profitability. 
 
In addition, employee involvement is recognised as fundamental in recognising and reporting 
unsafe conditions and avoiding events that may result in injuries and accidents, which, in turn, as a 
mining company, the Board considers, to be a fundamental part of recognising and establishing 
ethical values and behaviours throughout the Group. 
 

9 Maintain The Company maintains appropriate governance structures and processes according to its current 
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 Governance 
structures and 
processes that 
are fit for 
purpose and 
support good 
decision making 
by the Board 

size and complexity, and its stage of development and level of resources. 
 
There is a clear division of responsibility between the Independent Non-Executive Chairman and 
the CEO. The Chairman is responsible for running the business of the Board and for ensuring 
appropriate strategic focus and direction. In addition, the Chairman is responsible for the 
implementation and practice of sound corporate governance. 
 
The CEO is responsible for proposing the strategic focus to the Board, implementing it once it has 
been approved and overseeing the management of the Group.  
 
The role of Non-Executive Directors includes questioning and challenging the CEO and assisting 
where possible in developing strategic proposals; reviewing and commenting on the integrity of 

appropriate standards of corporate governance; reviewing internal control systems; ensuring that 
risk management systems are robust; and reviewing corporate performance and ensuring that 
performance is appropriately reported to shareholders. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, the RCF requires certain operational matters to be pre-approved by 

ders. These lending covenants are exceptions to compliance with 
Principle 9 that are expected to continue until the termination of the RCF.  
 

10 Communicate 
how the 
Company is 
governed and is 
performing by 
maintaining a 
dialogue with 
shareholders and 
other relevant 
stakeholders 

The Company recognises that meaningful engagement with its shareholders is integral to the 
continued success of the Group. The Company actively engages with its shareholders through 
meetings, webinars, presentations and roadshows, where it is able to without violating any legal 
restrictions imposed in this regard.  
 
The Board believes that the Annual Report and Accounts, and the Interim Results published at the 
half-year stage, play an important part in presenting all shareholders with an assessment of the 

website. The Annual General Meeting and General Meetings are an opportunity for shareholders 
rectors.  

 
The Board is supported by the Audit and Remuneration Committees, each of which has access to 

the committee to discharge its duties. These duties are set out in the Terms of Reference of each 
committee, and each meets as often as is considered necessary. 
 
Further the Board is supported in its dialogue with shareholders by its corporate broker and an 
investor relations consultancy group. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
GROUP VISION & MISSION STATEMENT 
The Group  vision is to be the most admired gold producer in the Philippines. Our mission is to enhance 
the lives of our people and local communities through the responsible management of our natural 
resources, and to deliver resource development and performance that owners have confidence in and 
employees are proud of. 
 
Well-defined values embedded into the business processes and structures along with consistent leadership 
actions and behaviors provide the foundation for corporate culture and its subsequent success. As a 

our business and represent the way we do business.  
 
Evidence of adhering to these values is the excellent 
contractors have achieved. As at the date of this report the Group has achieved in excess of 16 million man-
hours with no lost time incidents occurring since the last lost time incident in December 2016. This is a 
remarkable achievement for an operation of this nature, and all employees and contractors are to be 
congratulated on this outstanding record. 
 
COVID-19 IMPACT 
As at the date of this report, management has been dealing the impact of COVID-19 and government 
imposed quarantine guidelines upon its Runruno operations for approximately 24 months. During this 
period, the Group has managed to limit the impact of COVID-19 on its personnel and operations such 
that it has continued mining and processing operations enabling it to continue to sell/export its gold 
doré.  
 
The main impacts arising from the COVID-19 pandemic during 2021 have been disruption of on-site 
workforce activities due to on-site cases of the virus, increased expenditure on new health and safety 
measures and restrictions on the movement of people internationally in/out of the Philippines.  
 
During 2021, in-line with an increase in infections across the Philippines, approximately 300 COVID-19 
positive cases were recorded on the  mine site. Effective quarantine arrangements were, and 
continue to be, in place for positive case infected personnel and their traced close contacts. Strict 

ell-
being, and the on-going mine operations. Actual mining and processing operations continued 
notwithstanding the need for personnel to be quarantined following these recorded positive cases. 
The COVID-19 cases detected and the Group  reported to the appropriate 
government agencies and the Group continues to be compliant with all relevant government 
directives with regards COVID-19. 
 
A vaccination program undertaken by the Group, in conjunction with the local government health 
authorities, is continuing with over 93% of employees and contractors double vaccinated as at the date 
of this report. In addition, the Group provided various forms of health, food, financial and logistical 
assistance to the local community to assist them in dealing with the pandemic. 
 
Social distancing measures and strict site access protocols will continue in place at the Runruno mine 
to minimise the risk of further COVID-19 outbreaks amongst the on-site personnel. Notwithstanding 
the above, an increase in the number of COVID-19 cases amongst on-site personnel could put the 
continuity of future mine operations at risk, at least for a temporary period.   
 
Although the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic continue
last 12 months in maintaining positive cash flow operations gives the Group reason to believe that 
COVID-19 will not have a material negative impact on the medium to long term future of the Group. 
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FINANCIAL YEAR 2021 2021  
Notwithstanding ongoing COVID-19 pandemic impacts, for the third successive year the project produced 
an operational profit. Operational profit was US$29.4 million (2020: US$30.5 million) as the Runruno mine  
operational performance in FY2021 consolidated upon positive improvements that first emerged during 
FY2019. Gold production for FY2021 was 73,206 ounces (2020: 67,552 ounces) 
FY2021 production guidance of between 64,000 to 67,000 ounces. The increased gold production was 
achieved with average gold recovery improving by 17% from 72.2% in FY2020 to 84.5% in FY2021. The All-
In-Sustaining-Cost (AISC) for FY2021 was US$1,281 per ounce (2020: US$1,259 per ounce), which was in line 
with the FY2021 AISC guidance of approximately US1,275 per ounce. 
 
During FY2021 the gold price remained strong resulting in an average sales price of US$1,792 per ounce 
(2020: US$1,782 per ounce). Total sales for FY2021 were US$129.8 million, a 6.3% increase over the FY2020 
sales proceeds. 
 

2021 (when not COVID-19 restrained) was on improving plant 
performance and operational reliability. Mill throughput was maintained above nameplate design levels, 
while numerous modifications to the BIOX® circuit improved oxidation levels and the general performance 
of the BIOX® circuit. 
 
During FY2021 the cash generated from operations was US46.5 million (FY2020: US$28.8 million). This 
enabled the Group to accelerate its senior loan repayments in accordance with the October 2020 
restructured debt repayment arrangements. The restructured debt provides the Group with significant 
flexibility in repaying its borrowings while providing certainty of its ongoing financial stability.  
 
Under the debt restructuring the Group no longer has an obligation to meet any fixed principal and 
interest repayment schedule. The Group
repayment of that amount which equals the available working capital over and above a minimum 
US$5 million net working capital buffer. 
 
As at year end, the Group had total debt, including unpaid interest, of US$103.6 million (2020: US$127.4 
million). During FY2021 repayments of senior debt interest/principal totaled US$39.7 million (2020: US$12 
million); while a further US$12.0 million in senior debt interest/principal repayments have been made since 
year end to date. 
 
Refer to note 23 of the financial statements for full details of the debt. 
 
MINING OPERATIONS 
Total material moved during FY2021 was slightly down on FY2020 at 10.8Mt (million tonnes) compared 
with 11.4Mt. Mining activity was negatively impacted 
fleet, longer than normal delays in sourcing certain essential replacement parts and a Philippine 
government ban on the usage and movement of explosives in Q1 2021.  
 
Notwithstanding the continuing difficulties in accessing spare parts, the purchase of three 100 tonne 
Komatsu 785 dump trucks during 2020 resulted in lower mining equipment rental charges for FY2021. 
 
Mining operations during FY2021 were concentrated in Stages 1 and 2 with mining of Stage 1 completed in 
Q4 2021, allowing in-pit backfilling to commence. Development of Stage 3 commenced during FY2021 with 
a secondary access constructed to the out of pit dump, optimizing the haul route for Stage 3 development 
material. 
 
A major undertaking actioned during FY2021 was the peaceful removal of the majority of illegal miners 
from the Stages 3 and 4 mine plan areas. This programme was largely completed by the year-end however 
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the responsibility for, and process of, removing the remaining small number of illegal miners now rests with 
the relevant government authorities. 
 
Unfortunately, s 3 and 4 did not occur as early as planned due to delays in 
removing the illegal miners from these areas. Delays in accessing key areas of Stage 3 continued until 
access was achieved in early May 2022. These delays in having suitable access to Stage 3 has affected the 
2021 mining schedule resulting in a reduction to the scheduled 2021 head grade, with higher grade 
material from Stage 3 being pushed into the Q4 2022 section of the mining schedule.   
 
Notwithstanding the above noted access issues, the Group has commenced mining operations in, and 
continued its resource drilling programme in, Stages 3 and 4. In addition a small exploration drill 
programme in this area is underway to test for economic resources outside of the current mine plan pit-
shell. 
  
A planned cut-back to the east pit wall was completed during FY2021. 
 
All relevant permits for operations remain in place for the Runruno mine. 
 
GOLD RESERVE STATEMENT 
In February 2022 the Company issued a new gold reserve statement as follows: 
 

Table 1  2021 Ore Reserve estimate 

Reserve Ore Gold 

Category Mt g/t M Oz 

Proved - - - 

Probable 9.94 1.35 0.43 

Total 9.94 1.35 0.43 

Inferred resources included in LOM model pit 

Inferred material 0.69 1.11 0.01 

 
The 2021 Ore Reserve Statement is in line with a reconciled depletion reserve based on the previously 
issued 2020 Ore Reserve Statement, however with a slightly reduced overall gold grade. An infill drilling 
campaign provided data from 49 new drill-holes. Unfortunately drilling generally intercepted lower grades 
on the Western extensions of the ore body, in line with actual mining outcomes. This ongoing resource 
definition drill programme has moved into Stages 3-5 
resources and to improve its mine schedule planning.  
 
PROCESS PLANT 
Plant performance in FY2021 continued to show improvement in gold recovery from both the flotation and 
BIOX® circuits. During FY2021, the Group achieved an overall gold recovery from processing operations of 
84.5%, a significant improvement upon FY2020 which was 72.2%. This represents a significant 46% 
improvement from the FY2018 levels of gold recovery of only 57.9%. Importantly, the average gold 
recovery for Q4 2021 was 89%, with average gold recovery levels continuing above 80% into FY2022. Total 
gold produced in FY2021 was 73,206 ounces compared to 67,552 ounces in FY2020. 
 
Unplanned process plant downtime impacting on production during FY2021 included: tails line failures, SAG 
mill variable speed drive failure, and repairs to BIOX® agitator gearboxes, conveyor belts, crusher, return 
water lines and pumps. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, the process plant crushed ore operations were above design throughput with 
the following points of note: 
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 The crushing and grinding circuit operated above design throughput, achieving an availability rate 

of 89.5% (2020: 90.6%) and processing 2.14Mt of ore (2020: 2.06Mt); 
 The milling circuit operated adequately during FY2021 with incremental throughput being 

achieved whilst maintaining production at approximately 273t/hr (2020: 260t/hr). Unfortunately, a 
further attempt to commission a SAG mill variable speed drive was unsuccessful. No further 
attempts to install a SAG mill variable speed drive will be undertaken; 

 The gravity circuit operated at close to design recoveries of 30%; 
 Fine-tuning of the flotation circuit improved its performance ensuring incremental increases in 

recovery and improving concentrate grade for BIOX®. The circuit operated reliably with only minor 
maintenance issues;  

 The CIL circuit achieved an overall CIL recovery of 90.8% (2020: 85.6%);  
 A major upgrade of electrical cable to the mill and BIOX® resulted in a significantly more reliable 

power feed during the year, with a large drop in unplanned downtime due to electrical 
faults/power supply interruptions; 

 During Q4 2021, the fourth blower to the BIOX® circuit became fully operational, improving the 
supply of air to (and hence overall performance of) the BIOX® system. Further improvement in 
BIOX® oxidation levels is anticipated once upgrades to the return water circuit are completed 
which will provide greater control of temperatures in the BIOX® system;  

 The ancillary systems including counter current decantation, neutralisation, reagents, cyanide 
destruction and residue disposal circuits are all operating adequately; and  

 The improved cash flows have enabled the Group to expand its inventory of critical spares 
reducing the risk of lost production from unplanned downtime.  

RESIDUAL STORAGE IMPOUNDMENT (RSI) 
products are delivered to a residual storage impoundment (RSI) structure. This 

structure has been designed and is being constructed to international standards that relate to water 
storage dams. The standard to which the RSI is being constructed far exceeds international standards that 
apply to traditional mining tailings dam structures. 
 
Although the RSI construction was at a rate slightly slower than budgeted, the RSI remains in compliance 
with local guidelines and local development requirements, although it has not reached the final design 
stage of being capable of successfully c . Studies have 
determined the final in-rock spillway location and design of this is well developed. Construction of the final 
in-rock spillway is expected to commence in Q1 2023. This final in-rock spillway will ensure the RSI has the 

. 
 
The performance of the RSI is continuously monitored by an independent international consulting group. In 
addition, an independent audit of the RSI design and its construction to date has recently been completed. 
This report has listed certain recommendations to improve the RSI compliance with relevant international 
standards which the Group will consider and adopt where appropriate. 
 
COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
The Community Relations Department, the community interface arm of the Group, maintains strong 
partnerships with various national agencies and local governments from Barangay to Provincial level. They 
are primarily engaged in managing the implementation of identified and prioritised projects within the 
mandated Social Development and Management Program and other programmes under them as a 

 (CSR). 
 

ommunities by undertaking sustainable development within 
the community with programmes focused in the following key areas: 
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 Health; 
 Education; 
 Capacity building; 
 Community development and empowerment; 
 Enterprise development, improvement and networking; 
 Infrastructure development; and 
 Preservation and respect of socio-cultural values. 

Total community programme expenditure for FY2021 was US$1.9 million, up from US$1.1 million in FY2020. 
The reach of the programmes extends to assist the residents of the Barangay of Runruno and surrounding 
Barangays, the Municipality of Quezon and the Province of Nueva Vizcaya.  
 
During the COVID-19 crisis these programs have been adapted, with community support, to provide relief 
foods supplies, and other general assistance, to local communities/families particularly affected by the 
COVID-19 quarantine work restrictions. Approximately US$180,000 in COVID-19 related donations were 
made by the Group during the pandemic in FY2020 to neighbouring communities. 
 
The relocation of illegal miners operating on the back of the existing operations in Stages 3 and 4 of the 
mine plan was a major issue to be tackled for which the Group had significant community support. As noted 
above, the Group continues to work closely with the local government to ensure the smooth relocation of 
the small number of people remaining in the mining areas. Agreed compensation packages were paid to 
those families that relocated and to date this undertaking has proceeded without incident. 
 
SAFETY AND HEALTH 
The COVID-19 pandemic during FY2021 provided many unique and new challenges for the Group to 
manage. Following outbreak of the pandemic, the Group invested heavily in implementing adequate site-
wide social distancing and site access protocols that were successful in keeping the project site COVID-19 
free until April 2021. Positive cases recorded from April 2021 had a limited impact on operations and were 
dealt with in accordance with Philippine Government regulations.  
 
Otherwise, there were no material safety and health incidents throughout the project site. A safe working 
culture is actively promoted by a dedicated occupational health and safety department and is embraced 
across the Runruno site and in all departments, with all staff recognising their individual responsibilities for 
their own safety and the safety of others. As noted above the operation has achieved in excess of 16 million 
man-hours with no lost time incidents. 
 
ENVIRONMENT 

actices. It is a leader in the 
Philippine mining industry in its environmental and environmental rehabilitation practices. The Group 
recognises good environmental management as a key parameter in its CSR charter. The Group maintains 
and promotes its commitment to the effective stewardship, protection and enhancement of the 
environment in and around the areas where it operates, including the conduct of its business in an 
environmentally sound manner. This is the driving thrust towards the goal of sustainable development and 
reducing potential significant impacts of the Runruno operations upon the environment. 
 
REFORESTATION AND REHABILITATION 
The Group has continued to actively reduce the potential environmental impacts of its operations. It 
undertakes this obligation through immediate and continuous rehabilitation activities and by the re-
greening of disturbed areas, establishment of protection forests and the provision of habitat for wildlife 
within the FTAA area. These programmes demonstrably improve the environment within and surrounding 

 stabilisation, to off-set green-house gas 

responsible for planting over 2 million endemic and cash crop trees.  
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A total of 8.81 hectares were rehabilitated during FY2021 (2020: 7.17 hectares) bring the total area 
rehabilitated since commencement of mining to 35.62 hectares. 
 
As a manifestation of our unwavering and exemplary commitment, the Group has received awards from the 
Philippine government Best Mining Forest Contest for five consecutive years (2017-2021). 
 
GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS DISCLOSURE 
The Group recognises its social responsibility to minimise its greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) as far as 
economically practicable.  
 
Regulations made under the UK Companies Act 2006 requires the Group, to the extent practicable, to 

ted in tonnes 
 

 
Scope 1 refers to direct GHG emissions from operations that are owned or controlled by the Group, 
primarily emissions from fuel consumed by haul trucks, other vehicles and stationary plant at the Runruno 
project. These GHG emissions are regularly reported to the Philippines mines department.  
  
The calculation of GHG emissions is based on activity data, i.e. monitoring of fuel consumption rates, fuel 
composition, etc multiplied by industry produced conversion factors. 
 
Scope 2 GHG emissions are indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity consumed by 
operations that are owned or controlled by the Group. Group Scope 2 emissions have been calculated using 
the market-based method using Philippine government recorded supplier-specific emission factors.  
 

for the last two financial years were 
measured as follows: 
 
 2021 

CO2e Tonnes 
2020 

CO2e Tonnes 
Scope 1 GHG emissions  24,823 36,353 
Scope 2 GHG emissions  72,291 69,263 
 
Operational GHG emissions Total 

 
97,114 

 
105,616 

 
 

 
Total CO2e Tonnes per  

ounces gold sold 

 
Total CO2e Tonnes per  

ounces gold sold 
 
Operational GHG Emissions Intensity  

 
1.33 

 
1.54 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING 
The Group maintains very high compliance standards and employs industry leading initiatives to ensure the 
highest environmental performance. It regularly conducts its own internal comprehensive environmental 
monitoring program to ensure compliance with its licence provisions, Philippine Regulations and any 
appropriate contemporary Standards. These programmes extend to reference sites outside the immediate 
operational area and are used to provide reference and base-line data for future use. The Government 
programmes quarterly monitoring by an independent, community based Multipartite Monitoring Team. 
The Group also engages an independent third party consultant group specialising in environment 
monitoring services to conduct independent monitoring of its environmental performance.  
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LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
High compliance standards are practiced across the Group. A large site based team is dedicated to 
managing the high levels of compliance mandated within the Philippines. The site is regularly audited with 
upwards of sixty (60) audits, verifications or reviews of its operations undertaken annually by the various 
regulators. The wide range of permits to operate in the Philippines are secured from more than a dozen 
Government agencies and regulators. 
 
OUTLOOK 
Notwithstanding potential impacts from the continuing COVID-19 pandemic, FY2022 operations should 
maintain the efficiencies that have been developed over the past three years such that free cash flow is 
maintained from a stable consistent level of mining and gold production. However, gold production may be 
impacted in the short term due to changes in the mine plan to cater for the land access issues detailed 
above. 
 
Efforts will continue in both in-pit shell and out-pit shell drilling in an endeavor to add further resources to 

. The Group  positive operational cash-flows will, in the main, continue to be 
 It is expected that this facility will be 

fully repaid during Q4 2022.  
 
Further, the operational stability and positive cash flows will allow the Group to investigate other mining 
opportunities with an initial focus on Philippine projects. 
 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are listed in the Directors  Report. 
 
BOARD ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS  SECTION 172 STATEMENT 
Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires a Director of a company to act in the way he or she 
considers, in good faith, and would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of 
its members as a whole. In doing this, section 172 requires a Director to have regard, among other matters, 
to: the likely consequences of any decision in the lo

intaining 
a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and the need to act fairly with members of the 
company.  
 
The Directors uses its Board meetings as a mechanism for giving careful consideration to the factors set out 
above in discharging their duties under section 172.  
 
Stakeholder engagement  
Key stakeholder groups we engage with are listed below, together with an explanation of why we focus on 
them and how we engage them.  
 
Employees 
The success of the Group is dependent upon the hard work and dedication of all our employees. The Board 
ensures a continuing investment in existing employees who are supported through professional, technical 
and on-the-job training relevant to their functional areas. The Board directs executives and senior managers 
to keep staff informed of the progress and development of the Group on a regular basis through formal and 
informal meetings and regular communications. In addition, the Board ensures funds are provided for 
regular events to encourage employee participation in local community initiatives. The Board is conscious 
of its social obligation to impart skills and knowledge onto local Philippine employees. Accordingly over 98% 

Workforce gender diversity policies are actively followed with 
approximately 36% of the workforce being female. 
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Government Agencies & Local Communities 
The Group operates in the highly regulated mining business in the Philippines. The Board ensures the 
Company adopts a positive focus on maintaining productive relations with local communities and all levels 
of government. As a result the Chief Executive Officer and senior managers regularly conduct consultations 
with multi-levels of government agencies to ensure that all regulatory approvals and permits remain in 
good order. Development of local community improvement programmes are undertaken with consultation 
of local government and community representatives.  
 
Contractors & Suppliers 
Our contractors and suppliers are key business partners, and the quality of goods and services we receive 
are essential to supporting operations and to provide the Group with the opportunity to produce positive 
cash flows. 
 
Improved relationships with our key contractors and suppliers were evidenced during the early stages of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The support generated from key contractors and suppliers was crucial in enabling 
the Group to continue to operate. As directed by the Board, management collaborates and continually 
works with our contractors and the full supply chain, sharing best practice and seeking out synergies to 
improve performance.  
 
Lenders 
For the entire reporting period, the CEO and the CFO, on behalf of the Board, were in regular contact with 

expectations are properly managed. 
 
Customers 

doré means it only deals with a small number of end 
customers, being refiners of doré and/or gold concentrate. The Board ensures a close relationship is 
maintained with senior personnel at each customer group. 
 
Investors 
Investors are considered key stakeholders, and consequently investor relations are a focus area for 
Directors. Where possible the Board engages investors on Group performance following trading updates 
and results announcements with face to face meetings and scheduled calls.  
 
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board. 
 
 
 
 
Darren Bowden, Chief Executive Officer 
13 May 2022 
 

 
The information contained in this report that relates to the 2021 Gold Reserves Estimate was compiled by Paola Tuyor of 
Metals Exploration and reviewed and verified by Grant Walker of Xenith Consulting.  Mr Walker is a Member of The 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is a Competent Person as defined by the JORC Code, 2012 Edition, having 

 
 
Mr Darren Bowden, a director of the Company, a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and who has 
been involved in the mining industry for more than 25 years, has compiled, read and approved the technical disclosure in this 
regulatory announcement in accordance with the AIM Rules - Note for Mining and Oil & Gas Companies. 
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Forward Looking Statements 
Certain statements relating to the estimated or expected future production, operating results, cash flows and costs and 
financial condition of Metals Exploration plc and the Group, planned work at the Company's projects and the expected results 
of such work contained herein are forward-looking statements which are based on current expectations, estimates and 
projections about the potential returns of the Group, industry and markets in which the 
beliefs and assumptions made by the Directors. Forward-looking statements are statements that are not historical facts and 

Forward-looking statements also include reference to events or conditions that will, would, may, could or should occur. 
Information concerning exploration results and mineral reserve and resource estimates may also be deemed to be forward-
looking statements, as it constitutes a prediction of what might be found to be present when a project is actually developed. 
 
These statements are not guarantees of future performance or the ability to identify and consummate investments and 
involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict, qualify or quantify. Among the factors that 
could cause actual results or projections to differ materially include, without limitation: uncertainties related to raising 
sufficient financing to fund the planned work in a timely manner and on acceptable terms; changes in planned work resulting 
from logistical, technical or other factors; the possibility that results of work will not fulfil projections/expectations and realise 
the perceived potential of the Company's projects; uncertainties involved in the interpretation of drilling results and other tests 
and the estimation of gold reserves and resources; risk of accidents, equipment breakdowns and labour disputes or other 
unanticipated difficulties or interruptions; the possibility of environmental issues at the Company's projects; the possibility of 
cost overruns or unanticipated expenses in work programs; the need to obtain permits and comply with environmental laws 
and regulations and other government requirements; fluctuations in the price of gold and other risks and uncertainties. 
 
The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions to any forward 

events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements are based unless required to do so by applicable law or the 
AIM Rules 
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DI  
 
The Directors present their Annual Report together with the audited financial statements of Metals 
Exploration plc and its subsidiary undertakings (the Group ), for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activity of the Group is to identify, acquire, explore and develop mining and processing 
projects, mining companies, businesses or opportunities with particular emphasis on precious and base 
metals mining opportunities in the Philippines. 
 
The Company was incorporated on 8 April 2004 under the Companies Act 1985 (now Companies Act 2006) 
and is registered in England and Wales with registered number 05098945. The Company was admitted to 
trading on AIM in October 2004. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding Company for its subsidiary undertakings, which are 
set out in note 14 of the financial statements. 
 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 the profit before tax of the Group for the year was US$11.30 million 
(Restated 2020: US$9.43 million). 
 
DIVIDENDS 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
US$nil). 
 
BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 

Statement on page 3 and the Strategic Report on page 11. 
 
NOMINATED ADVISER & CORPORATE BROKER 
The Company  nominated adviser is Strand Hanson Limited. The Company  corporate broker is Hannam & 
Partners (H&P Advisory Limited). 
 
AUDITOR 
Nexia Smith & Williamson was re-appointed as auditor of the Company at the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2021 and it is proposed that they be re-appointed at 
Meeting. 
 

 
The Directors of the Company during the year and since the year end were: 
 
David Cather  (Independent Non-Executive Chairman), appointed 21 April 2021 
Darren Bowden  (Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director)  
Andrew Chubb  (Non-Executive Director), appointed 21 April 2021 
Tim Livesey  (Independent Non-Executive Director), appointed 5 May 2022 
Steven Smith  (Non-Executive Director), appointed 31 August 2021  
Guy Walker  (Non-Executive Director) 
Andrew Stancliffe (Non-Executive Director), resigned 31 August 2021 
Jeremy Wrathall (Independent Non-Executive Director), appointed 21 April 2021  resigned 5 May 

2022 
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Directors  beneficial interests in unissued ordinary shares granted by the Company under share options as 
at year-end are as follows: 
 
Director Option expiry date Option exercise price Issued during year Closing number 
David Cather 
Independent Chairman 

On or before 28 
October 2023  Nominal share value 6,600,000 6,600,000 

Jeremy Wrathall 
Independent non-
executive director 

 
On or before 28 
October 2023  Nominal share value 6,600,000 6,600,000 

Andrew Chubb 
Non-executive director 

On or before 28 
October 2023  Nominal share value 6,600,000 6,600,000 

 
Provided the option-holder remains a director of the Company  options vest as follows: one 
third on 28 October 2021, one third on 28 October 2022 and one third on 28 October 2023. A further 

30 day volume weighted average share price must exceed £0.0215 
per share during the life of the option.  
 

 
: 

 
Year ended 31 December 2021 

Fees/salary 
 

USD 

Short-term 
performance bonus 

USD 

Share based 
payments 

 USD 

 
Total  
USD 

Darren Bowden1 
Executive director/CEO 804,254 573,479 - 1,377,733 
David Cather1 
Independent Chairman 91,973 - 3,661 95,634 
Jeremy Wrathall 
Independent non-executive 
director 47,562 - 3,661 51,223 
Andrew Chubb 
non-executive director 47,562 - 3,660 51,222 
Guy Walker3 
Non-executive director/Ex 
Chairman 123,980 - - 123,980 
Steven Smith4 
Non-executive director 23,036 - - 23,036 
Andrew Stancliffe4 
Non-executive director 45,729 - - 45,729 
 
Total 1,184,096 573,479 10,982 1,768,557 
 
Restated year ended 31 December 
2020     
Darren Bowden1 
Executive director/CEO 720,000 600,0002 - 1,320,0002 
Guy Walker3 
Non-executive chairman 98,406 - - 98,406 
Andrew Stancliffe4 
Non-executive director 30,873 - - 30,873 
 
Total 849,279 600,000 -- 1,449,279 

 
Notes: 

¹ Includes consulting fees paid to private consulting companies. 
2 Restated to include year-end accrual. 
3 Further details relating to a Services Agreement between Runruno Holdings Limited and the Company are provided in Note 7 to the financial 
statements. 
4 Further details relating to a Services Agreement between MTL (Luxembourg) Sarl and the Company are provided in Note 7 to the financial 
statements. 
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 (other than the share options noted above) is currently related 
to the  
 
The directors' remuneration section, within the Directors  Report, forms part of the financial statements. 
 
ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES 
During FY2021, the Company issued 6,600,000 options to acquire ordinary shares to each of Messrs Cather, 
Chubb and Wrathall. No other arrangements were entered into to enable the Directors of the Company to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate. These options are subject to the vesting conditions as noted above. 
 

 
No contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its subsidiary companies was a party and in 
which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 
of the financial year or at any time during the year; other than: 

 Steven Smith is a 10% shareholder in MTL Guernsey Limited ( MTLG ). As at 31 December 2021, 
MTLG was owed US$17.36 million under the Senior Debt Facility. 

 Andrew Chubb is a partner of Hannam & Partners, the Company broker and financial advisor. 
 

 
The Directors hold meetings on a regular basis, special telephone meetings as required and written 
resolutions circulated by email as and when required to deal with items of business from time to time. In 

is required to be signed by all 
Directors of the Company. Where it was necessary the non-conflicted Directors of the Company dealt with 
matters where other Directors may be conflicted. Meetings held and attended by each Director during the 
year of review were: 
 
    SUMMARY OF MEETING ATTENDANCE 
    David 

Cather 
Darren 
Bowden 

Andrew 
Chubb 

Andrew 
Stancliffe 

Steven 
Smith 

Guy 
Walker 

Jeremy 
Wrathall 

Board meetings held whilst 
appointed 

 10 12 10 9 3 12 10 

Board meetings attended  10 9 10 9 3 12 10 
         
Audit Committee meetings held whilst 
appointed 

2 - 2 1 - 1 2 

Audit Committee meetings attended 2 - 2 1 - 1 2 
         
Remuneration Committee meetings 
held whilst appointed 

2 - 2 - - - 2 

Remuneration Committee meetings 
attended 

2 - 2 - - - 2 

 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE GROUP 
The Board of Directors review the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group on an ongoing and 
regular basis. Assessments are made as to how to manage these and mitigate as much risk as possible 
through various controls. Many of these risks and uncertainties are common to all mining projects. The 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are identified as follows: 
 
COVID-19 pandemic 
Although the Group has to date managed to limit the impact of the world-wide COVID-19 pandemic on its 
employees, contractors and operations, there can be no guarantee that the Group will be able to withstand 
a future worsening of the pandemic, or the spread of a different but equally dangerous pandemic. The main 
impacts that have arisen during the COVID-19 crises are the limitation on movement of personnel to/from 
the project site and in/out of the Philippines, and supply chain interruptions affecting receipt of spares and 
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consumables. The initial impact of this crisis was a reduction in the rate of gold production and increasing 
instability of operations. However, the Group has returned to normal operations as at the date of this 
Report, with all limitations on movement of personnel both within the Philippines and internationally 
having been removed.  
 
Market risk 
The profitabilit

gold prices. The Group regularly tracks gold prices and regularly refines its models on financial profitability 
in order to have available for the Board at all times, a current view on the future financial viability of its 
active projects. The Group has attempted to mitigate this risk by entering into limited hedge arrangements 
in relation to future gold prices. Refer note 20. 
 
The Group is exposed to currency risks in its operations; particularly in relation to Philippine domestic peso 
currency exposure from costs associated with mining and gold recovery. Currency exposures are carefully 
monitored, and forward contracts are in place to insure against major adverse currency movement risk. 
Refer note 20. 
 
Nature of mining, resource estimation and mineral processing 
Mineral resource and reserves estimation provides no assurance that the potential tonnage and grades will 
be achieved. The exploration of mineral rights is speculative in nature and any published results are 
expressions of judgement developed using industry tested measuring techniques, none of which can be 
relied upon with complete certainty. Each set of published results builds upon the previous published 
information and includes any new and reliable information from systematic drill results, mining, and 
recovery and reconciliation activities and is independently verified by qualified persons. However, this still 
involves experience, judgement, skill and estimation, all of which are imprecise, interpretative and open to 
challenge. The actual results of mining may differ upwards or downwards from the published reserves upon 
which the Group relies in its business projections. 
 
The size of the deposit, its grade, depth and type of orebody, are only some of the particular attributes 
which determine the costs and recovery methods required to be employed. There is also the length of haul 
to the processing plant, age and maintenance programmes for plant and equipment, land access, 
environmental protection and community relations, capital costs, reclamation and closure costs and labour 
and host community relations. The quantities, costs and assumptions used to identify and interpret these 
variables can be modelled to the lowest level of detail possible, but they do not provide absolute certainty 
that the expected cost of mining will be achieved. 
 

 ore requires a complex set of processes to extract economic levels of gold 
doré. Maintaining efficient processing operations requires specialised equipment and consumables, 
combined with an experienced and motivated processing team. It is also subject to numerous factors some 

the Group.  
 
Reserves and Life of Mine 

t is predicted that 
5-6 years. 

 
Exploration and development of mineral deposits involve a wide range of significant risks and require a 
significant investment over an extended period of time. These risks are seldom constant with new types 

 
 
Exploration success that results in the discovery of new gold resources that can be developed into new 
economic gold mineral reserves that in turn can extend the Runruno project life of mine is not guaranteed.  
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Mining regulatory risk 
Mining investors are exposed to a high level of regulatory risk under the governing bodies responsible for 
the Philippine mining sector. There are a wide arra
regulatory regime for foreign mining investment in the Philippines and the Rules are created and enforced 
by several layers of government and government agencies nationally, provincially and locally. The 
Philippines mining industry is subject to frequent audit and review activity by regulatory agencies. 

 
Failure to receive, extend or amend any Regulatory Approval, or delays in receiving, extending or amending 
any Regulatory Approval may adversely affect the properties, business or operations of the Group 

 or requiring 
 

 
The Group has almost 500 approvals, licences and permits to conduct mining, processing and related 

required to obtain new permits and Regulatory Approvals or to amend, renew or extend its existing permits 
and Regulatory Approvals.  
 
As at the date of this Report, neither the Group nor the Runruno project is subject to any suspension or 
closure order. The Group has applied for, or is in the process of, applying for the issue, extension or renewal 
of a number of Regulatory Approvals and cannot be certain that they will be issued, extended or renewed 
on acceptable terms or within the required timeframes.  
 
Key personnel 

and  highly skilled and trained personnel at all levels of management, however the retention of relevant 
members of staff cannot be guaranteed. There can be no certainty that the Group can recruit suitably 
qualified or skilled employees in a competitive, highly skilled, specialist industry and it is possible the Group 
will face periods of varying lengths of management and skills shortages.  
 

could be compromised at various intervals.  
 
Further, as noted above, ongoing and changing COVID-19 travel restrictions have impacted on the ability of 
international senior management to travel to and from the project site. In addition, the imposition of 
various levels of government mandatory quarantine periods upon senior management has added to the 
pressure of retaining key personnel. These travel difficulties are waning and it is hoped that this matter will 
not be an issue in the future. 
 
Environmental risk 
Mining operations are by nature environmentally risky ventures. As a responsible miner the Group takes its 
environmental responsibilities very seriously and is subject to stringent rules and regulations before, during 
and after its period of exploration and mining development. Open pit mining is mining on a large-scale and 
has the potential to become entangled in environmental disputes. The Group employs every effort to avoid 
and mitigate even the most minor of damage to the environment but it is aware it will always be exposed 
to these risks for as long as it is present at Runruno.  
 
Any breach of its environmental code or obligations to the environment as dictated in its Financial or 

temporary suspension of operations, fines, and even the possibility of closure of mining operations at 
Runruno. The Group is aware there will be further environmental standards imposed throughout the life of 
its mining operations which will involve further costs, time and compromises to be compliant. 
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Political and Country Risk 
The Philippines is a challenging jurisdiction for foreign mining companies to succeed. 
percentage contribution to the  has dropped significantly over the last 30-40 years. Philippine 
political and country perceived risk issues have hindered the development of a world class Philippine 
mining industry. The Group has no control or influence in these matters and these risks are a constant. 
 
In an effort to reduce these risks, the Group applied for and was granted a FTAA, a contract in law with the 
government. The 1995 Mining Act allows 100% foreign ownership of mining entities where there is a US$50 
million investment or higher, through the ownership of a FTAA. Mines operating under a FTAA have 
recourse for disputes to be arbitrated offshore. Despite opposition to the 1995 Mining Act successive 
Presidents have supported the framework. 
 
Further, it is noted that during the COVID-19 crisis the Government strongly supported the industry such 
that the Group was able to continue to operate, albeit initially on a reduced level. Further recent Philippine 
government pronouncements are increasingly mining supportive. 
 
Access to Tenement Areas 
Further development of the Runruno project into planned Stages 3 to 5 are dependent upon the successful 
completion of the resettlement of illegal gold miners still remaining on Group owned land in those areas. 
Although the resettlement of these illegal miners is substantially complete, the delay in doing so has 
necessitated  
 
In order to mitigate any further risk in this matter, the Group has worked diligently with the local and 
provincial government departments with the aim of ensuring the process continues to proceed on as 
smooth as possible basis, and with limited disruption to existing and near term operations. 
 
RSI Integrity 
As noted in the Strategic Report, tailings waste is directed to a Residual Storage Impoundment 
( RSI ) facility. The RSI is being constructed to standards applicable to international water dam 
construction, which has significantly higher standards than normal mine tailings facilities. However, the 
failure of the RSI would be catastrophic, and as such the continued integrity of this structure of the utmost 
importance.  
 
A third party audit of the design and construction integrity of the RSI was conducted during Q4 2021. 
Although the RSI construction has been at a rate slightly slower than targeted, the RSI remains in 
compliance with local guidelines and local development requirements, although it has not reached the final 

determined the final in-rock spillway location and design of this is well developed. Construction of the final 
in-rock spillway is expected to commence in Q1 2023. This final in-rock spillway will ensure the RSI has the 

. 
 
The performance of the RSI is continuously monitored by an independent international consulting group. In 
addition, an independent audit of the RSI design and its construction to date has recently been completed. 
This report has listed certain recommendations to improve the RSI compliance with relevant international 
standards which the Group will consider and adopt where appropriate. 
 
GOING CONCERN 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates the continuity of business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
To date, the Group has managed to limit the negative impact of COVID-19 on its operations despite 
recording approximately 300 on-site positive cases of COVID-19 during FY2021. The main impacts to have 
arisen during 2021 from the COVID-19 crises were maintaining on-site rosters while affected personnel 
were isolating and the difficulty in moving personnel in/out of the Philippines. Although the pandemic 
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continues, COVID-19 related pressures are being well managed. Indeed 
project in a positive cash flow position since the commencement of the pandemic gives reason to believe 
the impact of COVID-19 will not affect the future going concern status of the Group. 
 
Indeed, operational performance during FY2021 consolidated on the production improvements that first 
became evident during FY2019 and, notwithstanding COVID-19 impacts, produced a consolidated operating 
profit of US$29.4 million. Since year end, normal operations have continued and positive free cash flows are 
expected to continue.  
 

estimated external borrowings the Group expects to repay within the next 12 months, there is no 
obligation 
debt restructure removed any set principal or interest repayment schedule. Excess free cashflow is only 
required to be paid to lenders on a minimum quarterly basis when net working capital is in excess of 
US$5million. In addition, the Group is not in default if it is unable to make a quarterly payment to the 
lenders.  
 
As a result of the October 2020 debt restructure, and the ongoing existence of a US$5 million positive net 
working capital balance, together with the sustained positive cash flows currently being produced (and 
expected to be produced in the future) by the Runruno Project, the Directors believe there is no material 

ern. 
 
The Board believes that the Runruno project will continue to operate successfully and produce positive cash 
flows ensuring the continuing viability of the Group, and the Company, and their ability to operate as a 
going concern, meeting their commitments as and when they fall due. As a result, the Board considers it 
appropriate that the financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
The Directors monitor the performance of the Group through the following key performance indicators: 
 

 Safety  Safety The Group aspires to a world class TRIFR 
target of <0.95, which was achieved both in FY2021 and FY2020. Indeed the focus on safety has 
been successful with over 16 million work-hours being recorded since the last lost-time incident. 
Maintaining a safe working environment at all times, for all employees and contractors, is of 
paramount importance to the Group. Safety is the lead item for consideration at all management 
meetings, with safety briefings and safety protocol reviews regularly undertaken. Management 
remains determined to minimise and where possible eliminate potential safety risks.  

 Environment/permit compliance  The Group aims to have no major environmental/permitting 
incidents and <3 minor reportable environmental/permitting incidents per annum. This target was 
achieved during both FY2021 and FY2020. Operations are subject to numerous environmental and 
permit obligations and regulations. A dedicated department mon
this regard. Regular reporting of compliance with these obligations and regulations is strictly 
adhered too. The Group is confident of its satisfaction of the compliance obligations imposed on its 
operations and its ability to maintain and renew permits as required. 

 Gold recovery  Overall gold recovery measured against budget reflects the outcome of technical 
work undertaken to improve operational performance. Significant (but relatively low cost) 
modifications to the process plant and processing procedures have been undertaken resulting in a 
significant increase in average gold recovery over the last two years. The average gold recovery in 
FY2021 was 84.5% (FY2020: 72.2%) surpassing the average gold recovery target. Gold recoveries 
are continuously monitored providing detailed information on day-to-day performance, and for 
ongoing studies into improving gold recovery even further. 

 Free cash flow  
down Group debt is of paramount importance; and performance is determined by comparison of 
actual results against budget. The cost efficiencies of operations are measured against budgets and 
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forecasts on a weekly and monthly basis. Detailed annual budgets are approved by the Board. Free 
cash generated from operations of US$46.5 million (FY2020: US$28.8 million) exceeded budget. 

 Total expenditure  Total operating cost and CAPEX expenditure is measured against budget on a 
weekly, monthly and annual basis. Projected costs are re-forecast at regular intervals. Total 
operating cost and CAPEX expenditure for FY2021 of US$91.1 million (FY2020: US$88.2 million) was 
slightly in excess of budget. 

 Total movement of material  Actual physical mining performance, both ore and waste, compared 
to budget is a key driver to ongoing mining operations. Mine schedules are constantly being 
reviewed to ensure sufficient ore is delivered to the process plant on a timely basis at an economic 
grade. Actual tonnes mined during the year was impacted by a Philippine government ban on the 
transport and use of explosives in Q1 2021. This contributed to actual tonnes mined during the 
year being below budget at 10.78Mt (FY2020: 11.4Mt).  

 Mill throughput  Actual tonnes milled of 2.14Mt (FY2020: 2.06Mt) compared to the 1.75Mt name-
plant design of the process plant indicates the degree of success plant modifications have made on 

  
 
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
Details of significant events occurring after the balance sheet date are set out in note 35 to the financial 
statements. 
 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

note 33 to the 
financial statements.  
 
Given the size of the Group the Directors have not delegated the responsibility of monitoring financial risk 
management to a sub-
the Board of Directors. 
 
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY 

best practice standards, to respect the indigenous culture of the mining project areas, to promote social 
and economic development and to offer employment and training opportunities to those who live in the 
mining project areas. 
 
POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS 
During FY2021, the Group did not make any political or charitable contributions, however in 2020 it made 
charitable donations in the order of US$180,000 in relation to COVID-19 relief assistance to local 
communities. 
 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
This report and the financial statements will be presented to shareholders for their approval at the Annual 

 
 

17 June 2022 at the offices of Armstrong Teasdale 
LLP in London. The Notice of the AGM will be issued shortly.  
 

les of Association, Messrs Cather, Bowden, Chubb, Smith and 
Livesey will retire and will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. 
 
SHARE CAPITAL 
On 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021, there were 2,071,334,586 ordinary shares of 1 penny each in 
the capital of the Company in issue. 
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SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS 
As at 31 December 2021, the Company is either aware of or has been notified of the following shareholders 

 ordinary shares: 
 

Significant Shareholders 
Shares held as of 

% 
Shares held as of 

% 31 December 31 December 

2021 2020 

MTL (Luxembourg) Sarl¹ 970,532,143 46.9% 970,532,143 46.9% 

Runruno Holdings Ltd 393,513,302 19.0% 393,513,302 19.0% 

Baker Steel Capital Managers LLP² 123,738,429 6.0% 123,738,429 6.0% 

Interactive Investor³ 87,682,051 4.2% 83,063,005 4.0% 

Hargreaves Lansdown³ 85,680,762 4.1% N/a - 

¹ MTL (Luxembourg) Sarl  includes 1 million shares owned by Ms. Crompton Candy and 1 million shares 
owned by Parman Street Holdings Limited both of whom are deemed to be acting in concert with MTL Luxembourg. 
² Baker Steel Capital Managers LLP acting on behalf of various funds for which it acts as full discretionary Investment 
Manager.  
³ Acting on behalf of its clients. 

 
BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS STATEMENT 
Please refer to the Board Engagement with Stakeholders section of the Strategic Report. Creating and 
maintaining relationships with our suppliers is considered to be of key importance. 
 
EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT 
The Group maintains a policy of continual information flow to its managers and employees through issuing 
regular operational updates on matters affecting safety and operational performance. In addition, regular 
meetings are held with management . The 
Group strives to create an equal opportunity work environment where employees can be safe and healthy 
at all times, while feeling valued and supported. Employees are encouraged to speak out about anything 
that impacts their performance and/or safety.  

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITORS 
The Directors at the date of approval of this Annual Report individually confirm that: 
 

 so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit in
are unaware; and 

 the Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make 
himself aware 
aware of that information. 

 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provision of Section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board  
 
 
 
 
Darren Bowden, Chief Executive Officer 
13 May 2022 
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report, Strategic Report, Directors' 
Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, 
the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and in 
accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards. Under Company law the Directors must 
not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Company and of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 state whether UK-adopted international accounting standards. have been followed, subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the Company and Group will continue in business. 
 
The Directors are responsible for: 
 

 keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities; 

 ensuring that they meet their responsibilities under the AIM Rules; and 
 the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 

rning the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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METALS EXPLORATION PLC 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Metals Exploration plc  and 
its subsidiaries the 
Consolidated Statement of Total Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company Balance 
Sheet, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and 
Company Statement of Cash Flows, and the notes to the financial statements, including 
significant accounting policies.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and UK-adopted international accounting standards. 

 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the 
at 31 December 2021 and of profit for the year then ended;   

 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting 
standards; and 

 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

ort.  We are 
independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 

Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Our approach to the audit 

7 (2020: 7) reporting components, we subjected 2 (2020:2) to audits for group 
reporting purposes  
 
The components within the scope of our work covered 100% of group revenue, 99.9% of group 
profit before tax, and 99.9% of group net assets.  
 
For the remaining 5 components, we performed analysis at a group level to re-examine our 
assessment that there were no significant risks of material misstatement within these.  
 
The group audit team conducted all audit work remotely. Video and telephone conference 
meetings were held with the component auditors in the Philippines. At these meetings, the 

approach. Once the audit work was completed, the findings reported to the group audit team 
were discussed in more detail, and any further work required by the group audit team was then 
performed by the component auditor. In addition to these planned meetings, the group audit 
team sent detailed instructions to the component audit teams and reviewed their audit working 
papers. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors  use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  Our 
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evaluat ability to continue 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included: 

 
to the estimated end of the life of the mine, looking at cash inflows and outflows and key 
assumptions such as the gold price. Where appropriate we used third party data to review 
and, where necessary, challenge their inputs; 

 We reviewed and challenged the disclosures in the Annual Report and Accounts 
surrounding Going Concern; 

 We compared the forecast results to those actually achieved in the 2022 financial period 
so far; 

 We reviewed bank statements to monitor the cash position of the group post year end, and 
obtaining an understanding of significant expected cash outflows (such as capital 
expenditure) in the forthcoming 12-month period; 

  
 assessment over the Group ability to comply 

with all loan facility covenants in the 12 months from approval of the financial statements. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 
the group and parent  ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report. 
 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period, and include the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of 
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team.   
 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
Key audit 
matter 

Description of risk How the matter was addressed in the 
audit 
 

Revenue 
Recognition 
 

We identified the recognition of 
revenue from Gold sales as one of 
the most significant assessed risks 
of material misstatement due to 
fraud.  
Under International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA 240(UK)) there is a 
presumption that there are risks of 
material misstatement due to 
fraud in relation to revenue 
recognition. Where it is assessed 
that a material risk of fraud exists 
that class of transaction must be 
assessed as significant risk. 
 
Revenue is a key performance 
indicator of the Group. Revenue 

We reviewed the 
for revenue recognition and assessed 
whether it is in line with industry and 
international financial reporting standards 

 
In testing revenue recognition, we have 

papers in respect of: 
- review of revenue contracts; 
- walkthrough design and 

implementation controls over revenue 
recognition which have been designed 
by the Group to prevent and detect 
fraud and errors in revenue 
recognition; 

- detailed testing of a sample of 
revenue transactions, including 
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based targets may place pressure 
on management to distort revenue 
recognition. This may result in 
overstatement to assist in meeting 
current targets or expectations. 
Future revenue projects impact 
the impairment assessments on 
the asset base of the group. 
 
Relevant disclosures in the 
Annual report and accounts 
2021: 
Financial statements note 3, 
Segmental analysis & Accounting 
policies: Revenue recognition 
 

confirmation of metal delivery, to 
ensure that revenue had been 
recognised in accordance with the 

 
- cut-off testing around year-end 

shipments. 
 
 

Carrying 
value and 
impairment 
of tangible 
non-current 
assets (group) 
And Carrying 
value and 
impairment 
of investment 
and 
intercompany 
advances 
made to 
subsidiaries 
(company) 
 
 

The Group has significant 
property, plant & equipment asset 
balances and the Company has 
significant investments in 
subsidiaries and amounts owed by 
group undertakings balances which 
are in relation to the Runruno 
mine being the main trading asset 
within FCF Minerals Corporation. 
 

se 
carrying value requires significant 
judgement, in particular regarding 
estimated future gold price, the 
quantity and grade of Gold ore 
extractable from the mine, 
operating reliability of property 
plant and equipment, discount 
rates and sensitivity assumptions. 
The assessment of the carrying 
value of these balances and 
consequently any required 
impairment or reversal of 
impairment is sensitive to these 
assumptions. 
 
 
Relevant disclosures in the 
Annual report and accounts 
2021: 
Financial statements note 2, 8(a), 
8(b), 12 and 14, Segmental 
analysis & Accounting policies: 
Property, plant and equipment & 
Investments 
 

for Impairment and expected credit loss 
and assessed whether it is in line with 
industry and international financial 

 
 
In testing the discounted cash flow model, 
we have: 
- R

working papers in respect of: 
o their assessment over the 

appropriateness of the assumptions 
concerning the forecasted gold 
production, cost base for the life of 
mine and discount rate applied. 

o their review of the discounted cash 
flow model for mathematical 
accuracy 

o their review of the sensitivity 
analysis in relation to changes to 
the gold price and discount rates 
applied. 

 
We challenged the assumptions used in the 
impairment model, described in note 2. As 
part of our procedures we:  
 considered the quantity and grade of 

gold ore by comparing recent gold 
surveys performed by an independent 
expert on behalf of Management; 

 Compared the reasonability of 

prices compared to external forecast 
data including those utilised by 
investment banks and analysts; 

 assessed the appropriateness of the 
assumptions the forecasted gold 
production, cost base for the life of 
mine and discount rate applied. 

 
In performing our procedures, we used our 
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internal valuation specialists and third-
party evidence to assess the 
appropriateness of the discount rate 
applied.  
 

Treatment of 
foreign 
exchange 
gains and 
losses in 
relation to 
long term 
loans 
between the 
Parent and 
the subsidiary 
for 
consolidation 
purposes 
 

The Parent issued cash advances 
to FCF Minerals Corporation in 
prior periods. These intergroup 
advances had previously been 
impaired and in the prior and 
current periods partial reversals of 
the impairment have been 

functional currency differs from 
the presentational currency of the 
group and therefore there is a risk 
of inappropriate treatment of the 
foreign exchange movements and 
reversal of the impairments for 

statements in relation to the 
gains/losses recognised in relation 
to the intergroup advances 
 
Relevant disclosures in the 
Annual report and accounts 
2021: 
Financial statements note 2, 8(c) 
& Accounting policies: Foreign 
currency 

for treatment of foreign exchange 
translations of the intergroup advances and 
assessed whether it is in line with industry 
and international financial reporting 

 
In testing the accounting for the translation 
of the advances, we have  
- ssessment of 

the intergroup advances as net 
investments in foreign operations 

- reviewed the appropriateness of the 
classification of the gain/loss on 
translation of the cash advances 

- reviewed the composition of the 
balances within the foreign currency 
translation reserve 

- compared the foreign exchange rates 
used to the 3rd party resources for 
reasonability. 

 
We note a prior period adjustment has 
been recognised to correct the treatment 
of the intergroup advances to be net 
investment in foreign operations and to 
correct for the inconsistent application of 
foreign exchange rates. 
 

 
 
Our application of materiality 

$1,200,000 (2020: $1,200,000). This has been determined with reference to the benchmark of 

  FS materiality represents 1% of the g
revenue (2020: 1% group revenue) as presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of 
Total Comprehensive Income. 
 

  This has been determined with reference to 

the group and carries on no trade external to the Group in its own right. Parent FS materiality 
represents 0.9% (2020: 1.8%) of the parent compan
the parent company Balance Sheet. 
 
Performance materiality for the group financial statements was set at $780,000 (2020: 
$780,000), being 65% of group FS materiality, for purposes of assessing the risks of material 
misstatement and determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.  We 
have set it at this amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the 
aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds FS materiality.  We judged this 
level to be appropriate based on our understanding of the group and its financial statements, as 
updated by our risk assessment procedures and our expectation regarding current period 
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misstatements including considering experience from previous audits. It was set at 65% to reflect 
the number of areas of accounting estimates and judgments required within the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Performance materiality for the parent company financial statements was set at $507,000 (2020: 
$507,000), being 65% of parent FS materiality. It was set at 65% to reflect the number of areas of 
accounting estimates and judgments required within the Financial Statements. 
 
Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report and Accounts, 

 The directors are 
responsible for the other information contained in the Annual Report and Accounts.  Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge 
obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If we 
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves.  If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the strategic eport for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

 the strategic report and the d report have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements 
in the strategic report or the d report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies 
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns 
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records 
and returns; or 

 are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
 

 
Responsibilities of directors 
As explained more fully in the d responsibilities statement set out on page 29, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
the parent 



METALS EXPLORATION PLC 
 
 

-35 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 

 financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

 Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is 
detailed below.  Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations.  We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.   
 

inquiry of management concerning: 
- their understanding of relevant laws and regulations; 
- nd 
- how they identify, evaluate and account for litigation claims. 

 

understand that the company complies with the framework through: 
- Training staff in how to comply with health and safety; and 
- Maintaining strict health and safety policies on the mine site in the Philippines. 

 
In the context of the audit, we considered those laws and regulations: 

- which determine the form and content of the financial statements; 
- which are c  
- where failure to comply could result in material penalties. 

 
We identified the following laws and regulations as being of significance in the context of the 
company: 

- The Companies Act 2006 and IFRS in respect of the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements; and 

- Occupational Safety and Health Standards in the Philippines. 
 
We evaluated potential non-compliance with these laws and regulations by: 

- Reviewing component auditor working papers for identification of legal claims; and 
- Inquiring with management regarding compliance with those Occupational Safety and 

Health Standards in the Philippines. 
 
The senior statutory auditor led a discussion with senior members of the engagement team 
r
including how fraud might occur. The areas identified in this discussion were: 

- Manipulation of the revenue including early recognition of revenue, via fraudulent 
journal entries. 

 
The procedures we carried out to gain evidence in the above areas included: 

- Substantive work on revenue recognition, including cut off of revenue; 
- Testing journal entries, focusing particularly on postings to unexpected or unusual 

accounts including unexpected double entries; and 
- Reviewing and challenging estimates made by management. 
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A further description of our responsibilities is available on the website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  
report.

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the parent 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the parent 

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent company and the parent 

formed.

Nicholas Jacques
Senior Statutory Auditor, for and on behalf of 45 Gresham St
Nexia Smith & Williamson London
Statutory Auditor EC2V 7QA
Chartered Accountants 13 May 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 2021  Restated 2020 
Notes  US$  US$ 

Continuing Operations     
Revenue 3  129,843,489  122,098,677 

Cost of sales  (91,977,555)  (83,258,806) 
    

Gross profit  37,865,934  38,839,871 

Administrative expenses  (8,475,303)  (8,377,651) 
    

Operating profit 4  29,390,631  30,462,220 

       

Impairment loss 8/13   (1,450,078)  (2,328,414) 

Loss on sale of assets    (78,206)  - 

Net finance and other costs 8   (16,232,196)  (18,703,012) 

Provision for loss on derivatives 20   (332,996)  - 

Share based payment expense 26   (10,982)  - 

Share of profit of associates 15  18,232  2,625 

Profit before tax  11,304,405  9,433,419 

Tax expense  9/10   (11,769)  (19,749) 
Profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the 
parent  

 
 

11,292,636  9,413,670 

    

Other comprehensive income:       
Items that may be re-classified subsequently to profit or 
loss:       

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (791,929)  3,281,701 
Items that will not be re-classified subsequently to profit or 
loss: 
Re-measurement of pension liabilities 

   
 

123,855 

 
 

(28,655) 

Total comprehensive profit for the period attributable to 
equity holders of the parent  

 
 

10,624,562  12,666,716 

    

Earnings per share:     

Basic cents per share 11  0.55  0.45 

Diluted cents per share 11   0.52  0.43 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 2021  Restated 2020   Restated 2019 
Notes  US$  US$  US$ 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment 12  95,941,405  103,159,132  106,978,695 

Other intangible assets 13  70,115  52,030  49,567 

Investment in associate companies 15  182,265  164,033  161,408 

Trade and other receivables 16  5,529,628  5,500,577  4,222,863 
      
 101,723,413  108,875,772  111,412,533 

Current assets       

Inventories 17   17,217,885  14,620,743  9,478,457 

Trade and other receivables 19  5,968,568  11,807,274  3,609,595 

Cash and cash equivalents 18  4,736,970  8,931,792  4,818,981 
      
 27,923,423  35,359,809  17,907,033 

Non-current liabilities       

Loans 23  (78,856,268)  (98,150,386)  (11,282,574) 

Retirement benefits obligations 21   (1,950,535)  (1,799,862)  (973,000) 

Deferred tax liabilities 10  (805,680)  (808,757)  (812,481) 

Provision for mine rehabilitation 24  (4,015,050)  (3,291,388)  (2,880,092) 
      
 (85,627,533)  (104,050,393)  (15,948,147) 

Current liabilities                    

Trade and other payables 22  (10,328,000)  (12,032,486)  (14,355,288) 

Loans - current portion 23  (23,834,279)  (29,264,218)  (112,794,363) 

Derivative liabilities 20   (332,996)  -  - 
      
 (34,495,275)  (41,296,704)  (127,149,651) 

Net assets/(liabilities)      9,524,028  (1,111,516) 

 

(13,778,232) 
 
Equity     

 
 

 
 

Share capital 25  27,950,217  27,950,217  27,950,217 

Share premium account  195,855,125  195,855,125  195,855,125 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest reserve  (5,107,515)  (5,107,515)  (5,107,515) 

Translation reserve  14,668,476  15,460,405  12,178,704 

Re-measurement reserve    162,003  38,148  66,803 

Other reserves 26/27   1,537,919  1,526,937  1,526,937 

Profit and loss account  (225,542,197)  (236,834,833)  (246,248,503) 
      

 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  

 
 

9,524,028  (1,111,516)  (13,778,232) 

 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2022 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Darren Bowden, Chief Executive Officer 
13 May 2022 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

2021  Restated 2020 
Notes US$  US$ 

       
Net cash generated from operating 
activities 28   46,515,768 

 
28,809,449 

     
Investing activities      
Exploration expenses incurred    (338,203)  (17,523) 
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment   (11,542,751) 

 
(12,731,516) 

Purchase of intangible assets   (45,993)  (58,920) 
Proceeds from sale of plant and 
equipment    60,000 

 
250,000 

     
Net cash (used in) investing activities    (11,866,947)  (12,557,959) 

     
Financing activities      
Repayment of borrowings 29   (39,675,000)  (12,000,000) 
       
Net cash (used in) financing activities   (39,675,000)  (12,000,000) 

     
Net (decrease)/increase  in cash and 
cash equivalents    (5,026,179) 

 
4,251,490 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
year   8,931,792 

 
4,818,981 

Foreign exchange difference   831,357  (138,679) 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  4,736,970 
 

8,931,792 
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

  2021   2020 
Notes   US$  US$ 

Non-current assets      

Investment in subsidiaries 14   -  - 

Current assets      

Trade and other receivables 19   88,729,224  65,045,652 

Cash and cash equivalents 18   199,978  569,732 
     

  88,929,202  65,615,384 

Non-current liabilities      

Loans 23   (78,856,268)  (67,596,759) 

Trade and other payables    (78,895)  - 

       

    (78,935,163)  (67,596,759) 

Current liabilities       

Loans 23   -  - 

Trade and other payables 22   (389,327)  (362,682) 

Derivative liabilities 20   (332,996)  - 

   
 

 
 

 

   
 

(722,323) 
 

(362,682) 

   
 

 
 

 

Net assets/(liabilities)  
 

9,271,716 
 

(2,344,057) 

     

Equity      

Share capital 25   27,950,217  27,950,217 

Share premium account   195,855,125  195,855,125 

Translation reserve    971,346  1,305,125 

Other reserves 26/27   1,537,919  1,526,937 

Profit and loss account   (217,042,891)  (228,981,461) 

   
 

 
 

 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  
 

9,271,716 
 

(2,344,057) 
 
 
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of Companies Act 2006 not to publish an income statement 
or a statement of total comprehensive income.  The total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021 dealt with in the 
financial statements of the Company was US$11,938,570 (2020: US$11,297,765). 
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2022 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
Darren Bowden; Chief Executive Officer 
13 May 2022 
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 

  2021  2020 

Notes   US$  US$ 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 28   (364,719)  83,999 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   569,732  565,166 

Foreign exchange difference    (5,035)  (79,433) 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   199,978  569,732 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies are summarised below. Except as elsewhere disclosed, the accounting 
policies have all been applied consistently throughout the period covered by these financial statements. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial information has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments, which are measured at fair value, and in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting 
standards. 
 
For the Group and its subsidiaries US Dollars is both the functional and presentational currency. Although 

al currency is pounds sterling, it uses US Dollars as its presentational currency, to 
better reflect the underlying performance of that entity.  
 
Restatement of effects of foreign exchange movements 
The prior period consolidated statement of profit and loss, consolidated financial position, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and related notes have been restated to correct past treatment of foreign 
exchange movements in inter-group loans. 
 
A review of the prior year treatment of the effect of foreign currency movements upon inter-group loans 
determined that the Group had been inconsistent in the application of its judgements as to whether inter-

 In addition 
inconsistencies were noted in the foreign exchange rates applied throughout the consolidation process. 
 
As a result, it was determined that the prior period allocation of foreign exchange movements on inter-
group loans between the profit and loss and translation reserve required recasting as shown below. 
 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

As previously 
stated 

Restatement 
adjustment Restated balance 

US$ US$ US$ 

Impairment loss (1,292,814) (1,035,600) (2,328,414) 

Net finance and other costs (19,403,985) 700,973 (18,703,012) 

Profit for the year 9,768,046 (334,627) 9,413,670 

Other comprehensive income    

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2,947,074 334,627 3,281,701 

    
Total comprehensive profit for the period attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 12,666,716 - 

 
12,666,716 

Earnings per share  Basic cents per share 0.47  0.45 

                                   - Diluted cents per share 0.46  0.43 

 
Impact on statement of financial position 

 Translation 
reserve 

Profit and loss 
account 

 US$ US$ 
Balance as originally stated at 1 January 2020  14,744,085 (248,813,884) 
       Restatement adjustment  (2,565,381) 2,565,381 
Balance as restated at 1 January 2020  12,178,704 (246,248,503) 
   Movements as originally stated  2,947,074 9,748,297 
   Restatement adjustment  334,627 (334,627) 
Balance as restated at 31 December 2020  15,460,405 (236,834,833) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Going concern 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates the continuity of business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
To date the Group has managed to limit the negative impact of COVID-19 on its operations despite 
recording approximately 300 on-site positive cases of COVID-19 during FY2021. The main impacts to have 
arisen during 2021 from the COVID-19 crises were maintaining on-site rosters while affected personnel 
were isolating and the difficulty in moving personnel in/out of the Philippines. Although the pandemic 
continues, COVID-
project in a positive cash flow position since the commencement of the pandemic gives reason to believe 
the impact of COVID-19 will not affect the future going concern status of the Group. 
 
Indeed, operational performance during 2021 consolidated on the production improvements that first 
became evident during 2019 and, notwithstanding COVID-19 impacts, produced a consolidated operating 
profit of US$29.4 million. Since year end normal operations have continued and positive free cash flows are 
expected to continue.  
 

estimated external borrowings the Group expects to repay within the next 12 months, there is no 
obligation to adhere to a set loan principal or interest repayment schedule. 
debt restructure removed any set principal or interest repayment schedule. Excess free cashflow is only 
required to be paid to lenders on a minimum quarterly basis when net working capital is in excess of 
US$5million. In addition, the Group is not in default if it is unable to make a lender quarterly repayment.  
 
As a result of this debt restructure, and the ongoing existence of a US$5million positive net working capital 
balance, together with the sustained positive cash flows currently being produced (and expected to be 
produced in the future) by the Runruno Project, the Directors believe there is no material uncertainty over 

 
 
The Board believes that the Runruno Project will continue to operate successfully and produce positive cash 
flows ensuring the continuing viability of the Group, and the Company, and their ability to operate as a 
going concern, meeting their commitments as and when they fall due.  
 
As a result the Board considers it appropriate that the financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis. 
 
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  
The accounting policies and disclosures applied in the preparation of these financial statements are 
consistent with the accounting policies and disclosures applied in the preparation of the prior period 
financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
New standards and interpretations 
The financial statements have been drawn up on the basis of accounting standards, interpretations and 
amendments effective from the beginning of the accounting period on 1 January 2021.  The new standards, 
interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2021 had no significant impact on the Group. 
 
There are a number of international accounting standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations 
which have been issued that are effective in future accounting periods and which have not been adopted 
early. None of these standards, amendments to standards or interpretations are expected to have a 
significant effect on the Group.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings for the year ended 31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity controlled, directly or 
indirectly, by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee.  

 

statements from the date of acquisition when control was passed to the Group using the acquisition 
method of accounting. The Group financial statements include the results of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as if they were a single reporting entity. On consolidation, intra-Group transactions and 
balances are eliminated.  
 
Foreign currency 
Transactions in currencies different to the  functional currency are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and 
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance 
sheet date. Exchange gains and losses on the settlement of monetary items are recognised in the statement 
of total comprehensive income. 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities are translated to US Dollars at the rates prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange 
differences are recognised within other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of total 
comprehensive income. 
 
Taxation and deferred tax 
Current tax is based on the taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in 
the statement of total comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 

balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Taxation and deferred tax (continued) 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited, as applicable, as a taxation debit/credit to 
the statement of total comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly 
to other comprehensive income in which case, the deferred tax is recognised in the other comprehensive 
income section within the statement of total comprehensive income.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax 
authority, on either the same taxable Group Company or different Group entities, which intend to settle 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
expected to be settled or recovered.   
 
Share based payments 
The Company may enter into equity-settled share-based transactions with its Directors, employees of its 
subsidiaries, its contractors or its lenders in which the counterparty provides services/goods to the 
Company in exchange for remuneration in the form of certain equity instruments of the Company. The 
equity instruments can comprise of shares, warrants and share options. 
 
The services/goods received by the Company in these share-based transactions are measured by reference 
to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant and are recognised as an expense in the 
statement of total comprehensive income with a corresponding increase other reserves in equity. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories of finished goods (bullion), gold in circuit and stockpiles of processed ore are brought to 
account and stated at the lower of costs and estimated net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the 
latter being allocated based on normal operating capacity.  Costs are assigned to ore stockpiles and gold in 
circuit items of inventory based on weighted average costs.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business (excluding derivatives) less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
Consumables have been valued at cost less an appropriate provision for obsolescence.  Cost is determined 
on a first-in-first-out basis. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Intangible assets 
Exploration costs 
Costs relating to the exploration of precious and base metal properties are capitalised as intangible assets 
in the balance sheet once the Group has obtained the legal right to explore an area. 
 
Capitalised exploration costs are reclassified to tangible assets once technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable. The capitalised exploration costs are tested for 
impairment annually. 
 
Where exploration costs have been incurred and capitalised for a specific tenement and the commercial 
and technical requirements to demonstrate positive economic returns using approved mining techniques 
has not been established, the Company recognises these costs as an intangible asset and tests these costs 
annually for impairment. These costs are considered fully impaired unless the results of exploration indicate 
the presence of mineral resources that have the potential to be defined as an inferred resource in 
accordance with industry standards. 
 
Other intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Intangible assets acquired as part of a 
business combination are measured at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation charges 
are recognised in cost of sales. Computer software is amortised over its expected useful life of 3 years using 
the straight-line method. Licences acquired to support mining operations will be amortised over the 
expected useful life of the mining operation (or the term of the licence if shorter) when development is 
complete and mining commences. Intangible assets are tested annually for impairment. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost plus directly attributable expenses and are 
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated over their expected useful lives, using the straight-line method. 
 
The classes of depreciable assets, their expected useful lives and their depreciation methods are: 
 
Buildings & leasehold improvements   10 years  Straight-line   
Drilling equipment    5 years  Straight-line 
Motor vehicles    3-5 years Straight-line 
Fixtures, fittings and equipment    3 years  Straight-line 
Process plant applying the units of production over the useful life of the mine. 
Residual Storage Impoundment applying the units of production over the useful life of the mine. 
Mining properties  applying the units of production over the useful life of the mine. 
 
Mining properties costs have arisen entirely because of a reclassification of the intangible assets deferred 
exploration costs, advances to surface occupants, and mining licenses. As of 20 October 2011, the 
extraction of gold from the Runruno site was assessed as being both technically feasible and commercially 
viable. Further costs since this date have been capitalised directly to mining properties. 
 
Construction in progress tangible assets have been incurred after 1 December 2011, the date the board of 
Directors announced that the Group had moved into the capital construction phase of its development. The 
costs were substantially incurred throughout 2012 to 2017. 
 
Construction in progress costs are allocated to a property, plant and equipment tangible asset category, 
once the relevant asset has been assessed as being available for use as intended by management. The costs 
will be treated as being reclassified and will be depreciated according to the adopted method of the 
appropriate asset category. 
 
The right-of-use assets are recognised for all leases, except for low value assets and/or short duration 
leases. These assets are measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, 
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at 
the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date. The 
Group will depreciate the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to 
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.  
 
Investments 
Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less any impairment losses in the Company accounts. 
 
Equity accounting is applied to investments in associates on a Group basis. Investments in associates are 
recognised at the cost of investment as adjusted for post-
assets of the associate. Losses of an 
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning  
Provision is made for close down, restoration and environmental rehabilitation costs (which include the 
dismantling and demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed 
areas) at the end of the reporting period when the related environmental disturbance occurs, based on the 
estimated future costs using information available at the end of the reporting period. The provision is 
discounted using a current market-based pre-tax discount rate and the unwinding of the discount is 
classified as net finance and other costs in the statement of total comprehensive income.  At the time of 
establishing the provision, a corresponding asset is capitalised and depreciated over future production from 
the operations to which it relates. 
 
The provision is reviewed on an annual basis for changes to obligations or legislation or discount rates that 
affect change in cost estimates or life of operations.  The cost of the related asset is adjusted for changes in 
the provision resulting from changes in the estimated cash flows or discount rate, and the adjusted cost of 
the asset is depreciated prospectively. 
 
Where rehabilitation is conducted systematically over the life of the operation, rather than at the time of 
closure, provision is made for the estimated outstanding continuous rehabilitation work at each end of the 
reporting period and the cost is charged to the statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
Revenue recognition 
Gold sales 
The Group is principally engaged in the business of producing gold. Revenue is recognised when the Group 
transfers control of its gold to a customer at the amount at which payment is expected.  Sales revenue 
represents the gross proceeds receivable from the customer.  
 
For gold sales, the enforceable contract is each purchase order, which is an individual, short-term contract, 
while the performance obligation is the delivery of the metals. 
 
Recognition of sales revenue for the gold is based on determined metal in concentrate and the London 
Bullion Market Association (LBMA) quoted prices, net of smelting and related charges.   
 
Revenue is recognized when control passes to the customer, which occurs at a point in time when the 

of offtake agreements with the customer, the Company issues a provisional invoice for the entire volume of 
concentrate loaded to the 
concentrates delivered and submission of their final assay report.  Adjustment is accordingly made against 
the final invoice with respect to provisional collections received by the Company within two days to 
determine amounts still owing from/to customers. 
 
As the enforceable contract for the arrangements is the purchase order, the transaction price is determined 
at the date of each sale (i.e., for each separate contract) and, therefore, there is minimal future variability 
within scope of IFRS 15 and no further remaining performance obligations under those contracts. 
 
Revenue from the sale of by-products such as silver is accounted for as a credit to the cost of sales. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)  
The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows; and  

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely for payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and 
are subject to impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 
when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as economic, as appropriate. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and other 
financial liabilities, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
payables, loans and borrowings and derivative forward contracts. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
Payables 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss upon the inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operations 
(e.g., accounts payable and accrued liabilities).   
 
Payables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into 
account the impact of applying the EIR method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, 
discount and any directly attributable transaction cost. 
 
As at December 31, 2021 and 2020 payables.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
  
Loans and borrowings 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in the profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process. 
 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statements 
of total comprehensive income. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.  
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statements of total comprehensive 
income. 
 
Derivative assets and liabilities  
Derivative financial instruments (e.g. commodity derivatives such as forwards and options to economically 
hedge exposure to fluctuations in gold prices and foreign exchange rates) are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair 
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is 
negative.  
 
Derivatives are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, where any gains or losses arising from 
changes in fair value on derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss for the year. As at 31 December 2021, 
the derivative instruments held by the Group were gold price put/call option contracts and USD:PHP 
exchange rate forward contracts.  
 
Both the Group and the Company have recognised derivative assets and liabilities arising from the forward 
put/call option contracts for gold sales and exchange rate forward contracts as at 31 December 2021.  
 
Compound financial instruments  
Compound financial instruments comprise both liability and equity components. At issue date, the fair 
value of the liability component is estimated by discounting its future cash flows at an interest rate that 
would have been payable on a similar debt instrument without any equity conversion option. The liability 
component is accounted for as a financial liability. The difference between the net issue proceeds and the 
liability component is the equity component, and is accounted for as equity.  
  
Any transaction costs associated with the issue of a compound financial instrument are allocated in 
proportion to the equity and liability components.  
  
The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the effective interest rate for the 
liability component of the instrument. The difference between the interest expense and the interest 
payments made are included in the carrying amount of the liability. 
  



METALS EXPLORATION PLC 
 
 

-54 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting practice requires 
management to make estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the application of policies, and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
balance sheet date. 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from reported amounts in the financial statements. 
 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgements which have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are: 
 
Judgements 
Impairment and impairment reversals of assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there are any indicators that its assets and cash 
generating units (CGUs) may be impaired or require previous impairment provisions to be reversed. 
Operating and economic assumptions which could affect the valuation of assets using discounted cash flow 
models are regularly reviewed and updated as part of the Group
performance and forecasting processes. Judgement is required in determining the level at which these 
assessments are made, be that at the asset or cash generating unit level. Further judgment of whether 
operating and economic changes are significant and impact the performance potential of an asset or CGU is 
required. These judgements determine whether there is an indication of impairment or an impairment 
reversal required. Assets that have previously been impaired must be assessed for indicators of both 
further impairment and impairment reversal. Such assets are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at 
their recoverable amount at the date of the last impairment assessment (less annual 
depreciation/amortisation); therefore a change in operational plans, assumptions or economic conditions 
could result in further impairment or an impairment reversal if an indicator is identified.  
 
Treatment of foreign currency movement on inter-company debt 
The Group accounting policy in relation to foreign currency is consistent with, and governed by, the 
International Accounting Standard IAS21  The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. 
 
This standard considers treatment of currency movements on inter-group loans and whether inter-group 

foreign translation reserve). Under the standard, an inter-group loan for which settlement is neither 
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance a part of the entit s net investment in 
subsidiaries.  
 
The Group parent company has made significant advances to its subsidiaries over an extended number of 
years; which for many years there was no current/planned settlement expectation. These advances are 
currently at call interest free loans. These balances have historically been treated as investment in foreign 
operations (up to an including within the current period), however, expectations over the repayment of 
portions of the loans has changed (refer note 8(b)) and as such where loan repayments are to be expected 
in the short term these portions will be moved out of the Net investment in foreign operations allocation 
for the purposes of consolidation accounting.  
 
Judgement is therefore required to determine whether the inter-company loans are treated as monetary 
assets, with currency movements taken to profit and loss, or whether they are treated as a portion of the 
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reserve. This judgement may change in from period to period for some, or all, of the inter-company loan 
amounts. 
 
Estimates 
Current v Non-current borrowings 

repayments. Rather the minimum quarterly 
repayment of that amount which equals the available net working capital (NWC) over and above a US$5 
million NWC buffer. If at the end of any quarter the NWC is less than US$5 million there is no debt 
repayment obligation and there is no resultant event of default if no repayment is made.  
 
As a result the amount of debt principal that will be repaid within 12 months from balance sheet date is not 
known with certainty. Thus the amount of debt principal that is classified as either a current liability 
(payable within 12 months), or a non-current liability (payable after 12 months) needs to be estimated. 
 
In order to estimate the amount of debt principal that will be repaid within the next 12 months the Group 
has taken into consideration the following: 
 

 The level of debt repayments made during 2021; and 
 Forecast minimum debt repayment obligations based upon predicted cash flows for the 2022 year 

after taking into consideration: 
 Current gold prices and industry consensus forecast gold prices for the remainder of 2022; 
 Current and forecast levels of gold recovery and gold production; and 
 Current and forecast operational and CAPEX costs (AISC). 

 
The outcome of these considerations was to estimate that US$36 million in principal and interest payments 
will be made in FY2022 (2021: US39.7 million); of which it is estimated that US$24.57 million of Group debt 
principal owing as at 31 December 2021 is to be settled (US$nil of Company debt principal owing as at 31 
December 2021). Thus it was estimated that US24.57 million of Group debt principal and no Company debt 
principal is considered a current liability. 
 
Impairment and impairment reversals of assets 
An annual review is made of the carrying amount of an asset which may not be recoverable, or has 
previously been subject to an impairment charge , or conversely 
written up, to its estimated recoverable amount (being the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use). To determine value in use the Group reviews future operations using the latest life of mine 
(LOM) model detailing future cash flows that the Runruno operation is expected to produce. The key 
assumptions for these value-in-use calculations are those regarding risk discount rates, the price of gold, 
gold recovery levels, plant availability levels, changes in the resource statements and forecast changes in 
operational and CAPEX costs, the availability of economic funding and the ability to renew its mining 
permit(s). 
 
The net present value of these expected future cash flows is used to determine if an impairment, or 
impairment reversal, is required. 
 
The year ended 31 December 2021 review of the net present value of expected future cash flows did not 
result in either an impairment charge or an impairment charge reversal being raised against its mining 
properties, plant and equipment.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Recovery of intercompany receivable accounts 
Receivables due from group companies are assessed under the expected credit losses model. In each case, 
the most appropriate assessment is for the Company to consider the output from the impairment tests and 
value-in- mining properties, plant and equipment 
assets. 
 
In both the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 the Company booked a partial reversal of a 2018 year 
impairment made against its loans receivable from its subsidiaries. These impairment reversals recognise 
the improved trading outcomes of operating subsidiaries such that it is estimated that the Company will 
receive a larger than previously estimated recovery of loans made to subsidiaries. 
 
Refer to note 8 for detail on the impairment reversal/charges. 
 
Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves 
The determination of mineral resources and ore reserves impacts the accounting for asset carrying values, 
depreciation and amortisation rates, deferred stripping costs and provisions for pensions and for 
decommissioning and restoration.   
 
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and 
assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information 
becomes available. 
 
Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may 
change the economic status of reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves being restated which 
may impact asset carrying values, depreciation and amortisation rates, deferred stripping costs and 
relevant provisions. 
 
An updated estimation of mineral resources and ore reserves was calculated and publicised in February 
2022. This new statement of mineral resources and ore reserves has been calculated and reported in 

was verified by Xenith Consulting, who are competent persons as identified by the Code. 
 
Estimating gold-in-circuit and gold stockpile inventories 
Gold-in-circuit is 
different structures of the process plant. Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes 
added and removed from the stockpile, the number of contained concentrates in dry metric tonnes is 
based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage is based on the expected processing 
outcomes. Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. Refer to note 17. 
 
Although regular assay data is collected and production recoveries closely monitored these estimates that 
are valid at the time of estimation may be significantly different to the final gold recovered once processing 
of the inventories is completed. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Recovery of VAT and other duties  
Non-current receivables include amounts the Group believe it is entitled to recover from the Philippine 

dance with the terms of a 

the FTAA, FCF is exempt from numerous taxes including corporate income tax, VAT, stamp duty and import 
duty until July 2022. -share 

the FTAA) generated by the Runruno mine.  
 
Although the Group has been exempt from paying the above listed taxes since entering into the FTAA, it has 
nonetheless for operational reasons needed to outlay significant amounts in paying these various taxes. FCF 
is pursuing reimbursement of these payments through numerous court actions. Notwithstanding the terms 
of the FTAA, FCF has yet to successfully recover any of these amounts from the Philippine government. 
 
In each year from 2018 to 2021 the Group has estimated that an impairment charge should be raised 
against this non-current receivable. Refer to note 16 for detail on the impairment charges. 
 
Provision for environmental rehabilitation and decommissioning costs  

required to complete the necessary restoration and rehabilitation activity at the end of the LOM. These 
estimates are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. There is judgement in the input 
assumptions used in determining the estimated rehabilitation and decommissioning provision. Inputs used 
that require estimating include: 
 

 closure costs, which are determined in accordance with regulatory requirements, 
 inflation rate, which has been adjusted for a long-term view, 
 risk-free rate, which is compounded annually and linked to the life-of-mine, 
 the rate at which the progressive back-fill rehabilitation is undertaken, 
 whether the final construction of the RSI facility is completed during normal operations, and 
 life-of-mine and related Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves. 

 
Provision for Pensions 
The Group makes provision for an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan covering 
substantially all regular employees who have rendered at least six months of continuous service. Benefits 

retirement plan obligation is estimated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method, and calculated 
by an independent qualified consulting group. The principal estimates used in determining the defined 
benefit retirement plan obligations are listed in note 21. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
3. Revenue 

2021 2020 
US$ US$ 

Sale of gold doré  129,171,321  120,098,576 

Sale of gold concentrate 672,168  2,000,101 

 129,843,489  122,098,677 
 
All gold doré sales are made to a single refinery customer with 95% of sales proceeds received within 3-5 
days of the gold doré having been shipped from the Runruno operation. The Group also sells small amounts 
of gold concentrate to a second refiner, with 50% of sales proceeds received upon export, with the balance 
received following further assaying and final processing. 
 
4. Operating profit for the year is stated after charging: 

2021 Restated 2020 
US$ US$ 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 12) 19,341,675 16,925,778 

Amortisation (note 13) 27,908 56,457 

Foreign exchange losses 865,236 1,455,886 

Staff costs (note 7) 10,692,885 11,561,960 

Auditors remuneration (note 5) 196,523 216,751 

 
5.  

2021 2020 
US$ US$ 

 134,573 156,871 

Fees payable to the Company other 
 services 6,876 6,432 

for taxation compliance 
services 55,074 53,448 

196,523 216,751 

 
6. Segmental analysis 
 

o the Chief Operating 

the CODM. The operating segments included in internal reports are determined on the basis of their 
significance to the Group. The CODM has been determined to be the Board of Directors as it is primarily 
responsible for the allocation of resources to segments and the assessment of performance of the 
segments. The primary segments have been identified into three geographic areas of the UK, Philippines 
and profit/(loss) , c  and total liabilities  as 

performance for the period under evaluation.  
 
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 and the reconciliation of the segment 
measures to the respective statutory items in the consolidated financial information are as follows:  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
6. Segmental analysis (continued) 
 

Year ended 31 December 2021 UK Philippines Singapore Total 
US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Segment results     
Sales revenue - 129,843,489 - 129,843,489 

Group operating (loss)/profit (4,742,240) 34,149,063 (16,192) 29,390,631 
Other income & charges - (1,794,056) - (1,794,056) 
Finance costs (12,321,582) (3,910,614) - (16,232,196) 
Loss on sale of assets - (78,206) - (78,206) 
Share of profits of associates - 18,232 - 18,232 

(Loss)/profit before tax (17,063,822) 28,384,419 (16,192) 11,304,405 
 
Segment assets     
Segment tangibles & intangibles - 96,011,520 - 96,011,520 
Segment receivables & inventories 232,616 28,479,954 3,511 28,716,081 
Segment cash 199,978 4,523,224 13,768 4,736,970 
Equity-accounted investees - 182,265 - 182,265 

    
Total segment assets 432,594 129,196,963 17,279 129,646,836 

    
Segment liabilities     
Segment loans (78,856,268) (23,834,279) - (102,690,547) 
Segment trade & other payables (468,222) (11,797,471) (12,842) (12,278,535) 
Segment provisions and retirement 
benefits obligations - (4,015,050) - (4,015,050) 
Segment derivative liabilities (332,996) - - (332,996) 
Segment deferred tax - (805,680) - (805,680) 
     
Total segment liabilities (79,657,486) (40,452,480) (12,842) (120,122,808) 
 
Total segment net (liabilities)/assets (79,224,892) 88,744,483 4,437 9,524,028 
 
Segment other information     
Amortisation of intangible assets - (27,908) - (27,908) 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment - (19,341,675) - (19,341,675) 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment - 11,542,751 - 11,542,751 
 
Segment net assets are analysed net of intercompany transactions. 
 
The results of each segment have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with those of the 
Group as a whole. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
6. Segmental analysis (continued) 
 
Restated Year ended 31 December 
2020 UK Philippines Singapore Total 

US$ US$ US$ US$ 
Segment results     
Sales revenue - 122,098,677 - 122,098,677 

Group operating (loss)/profit (4,944,095) 35,407,951 (1,636) 30,462,220 
Other income & charges - (2,328,414) - (2,328,414) 
Finance costs (11,721,801) (6,981,211) - (18,703,012) 
Share of profits of associates - 2,625 - 2,625 

(Loss)/profit before tax (16,665,896) 26,100,951 (1,636) 9,433,419 
 
Segment assets     
Segment tangibles & intangibles - 103,211,162 - 103,211,162 
Segment receivables & inventories 49,973 31,875,110 3,511 31,928,594 
Segment cash 569,732 8,360,611 1,449 8,931,792 
Equity-accounted investees - 164,033 - 164,033 

    
Total segment assets 619,705 143,610,916 4,960 144,235,581 

    
Segment liabilities     
Segment loans (67,596,759) (59,817,845) - (127,414,604) 
Segment trade & other payables (362,682) (11,175,565) (6,500) (11,544,747) 
Segment provisions and retirement 
benefits obligations - (5,578,989) - (5,578,989) 
Segment deferred tax - (808,757) - (808,757) 
     
Total segment liabilities (67,959,441) (77,381,156) (6,500) (145,347,097) 
 
Total segment net (liabilities)/assets (67,339,736) 66,229,760 (1,540) (1,111,516) 
 
Segment other information     
Amortisation of intangible assets - (56,457) - (56,457) 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment - (16,925,778) - (16,925,778) 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment - 13,106,215 - 13,106,215 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
7. Staff numbers and costs - Group 
 

2021 2020 
The average number of persons, including Directors, was: Number Number 
Administration  20 19 
Development & operations 794 700 

814 719 

 

2021 2020 
Staff costs of the above persons were: US$ US$ 
Wages and salaries  9,940,820 9,641,894 
Social security costs  425,658 356,549 
Retirement and pension costs 326,407 1,563,517 

10,692,885 11,561,960 
 

 
 2021  Restated 2020 

US$  US$ 

Directors   
D Bowden1 1,377,773  1,320,0002 
D Cather1 95,634  - 
A Chubb 51,222  - 
S Smith3 23,036  - 
A Stancliffe3 45,729  30,873 
G Walker4 123,980  98,406 
J Wrathall 51,223  - 

    

 1,768,597  1,449,279 
 
The Directors are considered to be the only members of key management personnel.  Report 
- Directors' remuneration section on page 21 includes details of the components of Directors' emoluments 
and forms part of these financial statements. 
 
Relationship Agreements dated 23 October 2020 with MTL Luxembourg Sarl and Runruno Holdings Limited 
detail the terms of remuneration that each of these companies, and/or the respective Director, receives for 
the supply of their representative Directors.  
 
1 Includes consulting fees paid to private consulting companies. 
2 Restated 2020 disclosure to include omitted the year-end accrual of an unpaid bonus of US$360,000. 
3 Fees in relation to S Smith and A Stancliffe were paid to their appointee, MTL Luxembourg Sarl.  
4 Fees in relation to G Walker were paid to his appointee, Runruno Holdings Limited until 25 October 2021, however, as from 

25 October 2021, director fees have been paid directly to G Walker.  
 
Share options held by Directors: 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the following share options were outstanding (2020: none): 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
7. Staff numbers and costs  Group (continued) 
 

Date of grant Exercise price Expiry date Number of Options 
31 December 2021 

Number of Options 
31 December 2020 

28 October 2021 £0.01* 28 October 2024 19,800,000 - 
 
*The exercise price of these options . At the forthcoming 
June 2022 AGM, it is proposed that the Company undertake a capital reorganisation that includes a change in the nominal 

 from £0.01 to £0.0001. Should this proposal be approved the exercise price of these 
options will change from £0.01 to £0.0001. It is not proposed that the change in nominal share value impacts the number of 
options on issue or the option expiry date. 
 
8. Other charges and income applied against profit and loss 
 
8(a). Impairment charge and impairment reversal - Group 
 
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) 
Under IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets, each asset that forms a cash generating unit (CGU) should be tested 
annually for impairment. The Group considers that the entire Runruno project (encompassing capitalised 
property, plant and equipment, mining licence costs and deferred exploration expenditure) comprises a 
single cash generating unit as all stages of the project are interdependent in terms of generating cash flow 
and do not have the capacity to generate separate and distinct cash flow streams. Accordingly, the annual 
recoverable value assessment made in accordance with IAS 36 is made on a whole of project basis.   
 
The Group assesses the recoverable amount of the Runruno project CGU based on the value in use of the 
Runruno operations using cash flow projections over the remaining expected LOM and at appropriate 
discount rates. Based on assumptions current as at 31 December 2021 the Group reviewed its recent 
operational performance and its future expectations based on the current planned mining schedule to 
estimate the recoverable amount the Runruno project could deliver.  
 
The recoverable amount estimates were based on the following key assumptions and source information: 

 gold resources to be mined based on current estimated reserves and resources and new remaining 
LOM mining schedule, adjusted for forecast mine and grade dilution; 

 estimated average gold recoveries forecast to be achieved over the remaining LOM based on 
average gold recoveries achieved to date; 

 estimated ongoing capital expenditure required for the remaining LOM; 
 estimated operating and administration costs for the remaining LOM including an inflation factor; 
 future gold revenues based upon industry consensus gold price predictions as at December 2021; 
 future gold revenues calculated for the remaining LOM of 6 years; and 
 risk discount rates of 15.5% (2020: 15.5%). 

 
For both the years ended December 2020 and 2021 the estimated recoverable value of the Runruno project 
calculated in accordance with IAS 36 approximated the current book value of the 
and equipment (PPE). Accordingly, there has been no requirement to book either an impairment charge or 
an impairment lues for either the year ended December 
2020 or 2021. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
8(a). Impairment charge and impairment reversal - Group (continued) 
 
Receivables due 
Impairment charges have been raised against trade and other receivables due, both within and after one 
year, in relation to stamp duties, and VAT on importations and other goods and services. Under the fiscal 
terms incorporated into the FTAA these taxes and duties are recoverable, however, given the Group 
continues to have little success in securing appropriate refunds of these taxes it has paid annual 
impairment charges have been raised. (Refer note 16 - trade and other receivables due after one year; note 
19 - trade and other receivables due within one year). In addition an impairment charge has been raised 
against advances made to associates.  
 
The total impairment charges raised against all receivables was US1.5 million (2020: US$1.3 million). 
 
8(b). Impairment charge and impairment reversal  Company 
 
Receivables due 
To a large extent the Runruno project has been funded by loans from the parent Company and these 
together with the  and associates is represented by the value of the 
Runruno project cash generating unit. The 2018 estimate of the value of the Runruno project cash 
generating unit resulted in these loans and investments being fully written off. 
 
Repayment of these loans and recovery of the investments is dependent upon the Runruno project 
producing sufficient cash surpluses. Subsequent reviews of what the future estimated cash flows that the 
Runruno project may produce have estimated produce positive 
cash flows over the remaining life of the project, enabling it to partially repay past parent company 
advances. Thus the Company estimates the expected parent company loan repayments to be at least the 
year-end subsidiary net asset balance. From a review of the subsidiaries net assets as at 31 December 2021 
it was estimated that at least US$88 million of these parent company advances could be repaid. As a result, 
the Company has booked an impairment reversal of US$24 million in 2021 (2020: US$23 million) of 
receivables due from subsidiaries (note 19  trade and other receivables due within one year). 
 
8(c). Net finance costs and other income 

2021 Restated 2020 
US$ US$ 

Exchange gain/(loss) (897,870) (925,354) 

Loan interest and fees  (15,034,790) (17,033,574) 

Warrant amortisation expense (299,536)  (744,890) 

Other bank interest/fees -  806 

Finance costs and other income (16,232,196) (18,703,012) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
9. Taxation 
 
The taxation (benefit)/expense comprises the following 

2021 2020 

US$ US$ 

Current year corporation tax expense 14,812 11,222 

Current year deferred tax (benefit)/expense (3,043) 8,527 

 

Total tax expense for the year 11,769 19,749 

The total tax expense for the year can be reconciled to profit for the year as follows: 

2021 Restated 2020 

US$ US$ 

Profit before tax 11,304,405 9,433,419 
 

 

Tax on profit at UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%) 2,147,837 1,792,350 
 

Effects of:  

Income not taxable (1,442,986) (3,012,203) 

Differing tax rates in different jurisdictions 1,558,992 2,182,370 

Deferred tax asset not recognised 556,933 1,423,484 

Non-taxable and non-allowable items (2,808,835) (2,365,825) 

Short-term timing differences (172) (427) 

 

Total taxation (benefit)/expense for the year 11,769 19,749 
 
10. Deferred tax liability and asset 

 Tax Liability  Tax Asset 

  2021 2020  2021 2020 
  US$ US$  US$ US$ 

Undepleted asset retirement obligation   583,572 579,457  - - 

Capitalised expenses   131,638 157,964  - - 

Other short term timing differences   90,470 71,336  - - 

  805,680 808,757  - - 

 
The differences between the deferred tax expense through the Consolidated Statement of Total 
Comprehensive Income and the deferred tax liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet has occurred from 
translation differences arising on consolidation. Liabilities are translated using the closing foreign exchange 
rate prevailing at 31December 2021 whereas the foreign currency composition of the statement of total 
comprehensive income is translated using the average rate for the whole of the year. 
 
Deferred tax asset 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group has net unused tax losses of US$92.2 million (2020: 
US$80.6 million) available for offset against future profits. However, due to the G -going tax loss 
situation, the current FTAA tax holiday and the profit sharing terms of the FTAA, the deferred asset has not 
been recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet due to uncertainty over its future reversal.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
10. Deferred tax credit, liability and asset (continued) 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group has net unused tax losses available for offset against 
future profits as follows: 

2021 Restated 2020 

US$ US$ 

UK 59,762,889 48,206,449* 

Philippines** 32,406,481 32,406,481** 

  

Group unused tax losses available 92,169,370 80,612,930 

 
* 
corporate income tax return. 
** The 2020 figure incorrectly disclosed the income tax benefit of Philippino carried forward tax losses. This 
figure has been corrected to show actual tax losses available in the Philippines. Further, these income tax 
losses expire in December 2023 and are available to be offset against future Philippines sourced profits, 
however, the Group may not benefit from them due to operation of the government profit sharing 
provisions of the FTAA. Under the terms of the FTAA, FCF is exempt from numerous taxes including 
corporate income tax until July 2022. After July 2022 FCF is obligated to pay corporate income tax (and 
other indirect taxes) plus a government -share tax such that all government and business taxes equal 
at least 50% of the net cash surplus (as defined in the FTAA) generated by the Runruno mine.  
 
11. Earnings per share 

2021 Restated 2020 
 US$  US$ 

Earnings   

Net profit attributable to equity shareholders for the purpose of basic and 
diluted earnings per share 

  
11,292,636 9,413,670 

  
Number of shares   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  
basic earnings per share 

  
2,071,334,586 2,071,334,586 

Number of dilutive shares under warrant/option 115,983,670  96,285,358 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  
diluted earnings per share 2,187,318,256 2,167,619,944 

Earnings per share    
Basic earnings per share 0.55 0.45 

Diluted earnings per share 0.52  0.43 
 
The earnings per share was calculated on the basis of net profit attributable to equity shareholders divided 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.  
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13. Other intangible assets  
 
Group  Exploration  

expenses 
 

Software 
 

Total 
  US$ US$ US$ 

Cost  
As at 1 January 2020  63,078 602,474 665,552 
Additions   17,523 58,920 76,443 

As at 31 December 2020  80,601 661,394 741,995 
Additions  338,203 45,994 384,197 

As at 31 December 2021  418,804 707,388 1,126,192 

    
Amortisation and impairment     
As at 1 January 2020  (63,078) (552,907) (615,985) 
Charge for the period   - (56,457) (56,457) 
Impairment charge for the period   (17,523) - (17,523) 

As at 31 December 2020  (80,601) (609,364) (689,965) 
Charge for the period  - (27,908) (27,908) 
Impairment charge for the period   (338,203) - (338,203) 

As at 31 December 2021  (418,804) (637,272) (1,056,076) 

    
Net Book Value     

As at 31 December 2021  - 70,115 70,115 

    

As at 31 December 2020  - 52,030 52,030 

    
Exploration costs incurred during 2020 and 2021 have been fully impaired as exploration has not 
progressed to a point where it is considered probable that an inferred resource can be determined. 
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - Company 
 

2021 2020 
US$ US$ 

   
Cost 8,783,629 8,783,629 
Impairment brought forward (8,783,629) (8,783,629) 

 - - 

 
The investments in subsidiaries are as follows: 

Company Registered address Percentage holding 
Nature of 
business 

Metals Exploration Pte 6 Temasek Boulevard, 
 #29-00 Suntec Tower Four 
Singapore 038986 
 

100% Holding and investment 
company 

FCF Minerals Corporation Unit 1407, Pacific Star Building 
Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue cor. Makati 
Avenue 
Makati City 1200, Philippines 
 

100% FTAA licensee, holder of 
mining rights and gold 
production 

MTL Philippines  Unit 1407, Pacific Star Building 
Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue cor. Makati 
Avenue Makati City 1227, Philippines 

100% To hold exploration rights 

 
Metals Exploration Pte Ltd is a direct subsidiary of Metals Exploration plc, while FCF Minerals Corporation 
and MTL Philippines, Inc. are direct subsidiaries of Metals Exploration Pte Ltd. 
 
Metals Exploration plc ROHQ established in the Philippines, is an overseas branch of the Company and 
therefore its results are reported together with the Com  
 
The principal place of business of the subsidiary companies listed above is the same as their country of 
registration. 
 
15 Investments in associates - Group 
 
 2021  2020 
 US$  US$ 
At 1 January 2021 164,033  161,408 
Share of profits of associates 18,232  2,625 

At 31 December 2021 182,265  164,033 
 
 
 
Associate 
company 
 

Domicile 
 

Assets 
US$ 

Liabilities 
US$ 

P&L reserves 
at 31 Dec 

2021 
US$ 

Sales 
US$ 

Gains/(losses) 
US$ 

Ownership of 
ordinary shares 

on issue 
% 

 
Cupati Holdings 
Corporation Philippines 281,094 (52,628) 228,466 101,258 51,392 39.99% 
Woggle 
Corporation Philippines 102,108 (6,923) 95,185 - (5,811) 39.99% 
 
The investments in associates are held indirectly by the Metals Exploration Plc company through its 
investment in Metals Exploration Pte.   
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16. Trade and other receivables due after one year - Group 
 
 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Other receivables 5,529,628  5,500,577 

5,529,628 5,500,577 

 
Other receivables include VAT/import duties on importations and other goods and services and stamp 
duties. Although until July 2022 the Group operates under an exemption from these paying taxes the Group 
continues to have little success in advancing its legal challenges to recover these past paid government 
imposts. A total impairment charge of US$5.08 million has been recognised against these receivables (2020: 
US$3.57 million). 
 
17. Inventories - Group 
 

 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
    
Gold doré on hand 1,248,485  732,394 
Gold in circuit 1,476,942  2,162,264 
Gold in ore stockpiles 4,035,563  4,972,469 
Consumable inventories  10,706,895  7,003,616 
Provision for obsolete consumable inventories (250,000)  (250,000) 

  
17,217,885 

  
14,620,743 

 
Gold inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2021, consumable inventories recognised as an expense in cost of 
sales was US$24,618,137 (2020: US$18,172,877). 
 
18. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Group 2021 2020 

US$ US$ 
Cash on hand 10,953 3,213 
Current accounts 4,726,017 8,928,579 

4,736,970 8,931,792 

 
Company 2021 2020 

US$ US$ 
Current accounts 199,978 569,732 

199,978 569,732 

 
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of these assets is a reasonable approximation of their fair 
value. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counter-parties are banks with a high credit 
rating.  
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19. Trade and other receivables due within one year  
 
Group 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Receivables from gold sales 3,988,410  7,963,493 
Other receivables 1,777,991  3,515,216 
Prepayments 202,167  328,565 

5,968,568 11,807,274 
 
95% of receivables from gold doré sales are received within 3-5 days of the gold doré having been shipped 
from the Runruno operation. of gold doré to a sole 
refinery customer whose credit quality is assessed by considering the customers financial position, past 
performance and other factors. During the financial period the Group also sold small amounts of gold 
concentrate to a second refiner. Terms of trade for these sales are 50% upon export with the balance 
received following further assaying and final processing. Within 5 days of year end, the Group had collected 
95% (2020: 95%) of the trade receivables outstanding as at 31 December 2021. The Group believes the 
credit risk is limited as the customers pay within a short period of time and no provision for impairment of 
receivables has been made (2020: Nil).  
 
 
Company 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Receivables from subsidiaries 88,496,608  64,995,679 
Other receivables 120,716  1,749 
Prepayments 111,900  48,224 

88,729,224 65,045,652 
 
A provision for impairment of receivables from subsidiaries was raised in 2018 using an expected credit loss 
model. The expected credit loss was estimated on the basis that recovery of amounts from the subsidiaries 
is uncertain. Subsequent reviews of the receivables from subsidiaries resulted in an impairment reversal of 
the 2018 impairment in FY2021 of US$24 million (2020: US$23 million reversal). Refer to note 8(b). 
 
20 Derivative liabilities 
 
Gold option contracts 
During FY2021 the Group entered into zero cost gold price collar contracts over 9,000 ounces of gold 
production. The zero cost collar contracts consisted of put options at US$1,600 per ounce, to protect the 
Group from a significant drop in the gold price; offset by sold call options at prices ranging from US$1,893 
to US$1,905 per ounce. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had one outstanding gold put option at 
US$1,600 offset by a sold call option at US$1,905 over 3,000 ounces of gold production. 
 
This gold price collar contract settled in January 2022 at no profit or loss to the Group.  
 
There were no gold option contracts in place as at 31 December 2020. 
  



METALS EXPLORATION PLC 
 
 

-72 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
20. Derivative liabilities (continued) 
 
Philippine Peso forward contracts 
During FY2021 the Group entered into contracts totaling US$22 million for the forward purchase of 
Philippine Peso at an USD exchange rate of 50PHP. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the Group has forward contracts to purchase Philippine Peso at 50PHP totaling 
US$16 million. The Group and the Company have recognised a current liability as at 31 December 2021 
being the change in the fair value of the forward contract value based on the same USD:PHP exchange rate. 
 
There were no forward currency contracts in place as at 31 December 2020. 
 
21. Retirement benefits obligations - Group 
 
The Group has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all 
regular employees who have rendered at least six months of continuous service. Benefits are dependent on 
the years of service and the resp
obligation is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method. There was no planned 
termination, curtailment or settlement in either 2021 or 2020. 
 
The relevant Philippine 
provision for retirement pay to qualified private sector employees in the absence of any retirement benefits 
under any collective bargaining and other agreements being not less than those provided under the law. 
 
In 2020 estimated remaining life of mine. As a 
result a corresponding past service costs was recognised in that year. The amounts of retirement benefits 
costs recognised in the statements of comprehensive income are determined as follows: 
 
 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Current service costs 329,818  187,225 
Past service costs -  656,015 
Interest costs 68,456  49,919 

398,274 893,159 
 
The amounts were distributed as follows: 
 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Cost of sales 
Current service costs 

 
201,493 

  
181,608 

Past service costs -  636,334 
Interest costs 65,409  48,422 

266,902 866,364 
Administration expenses    
Current service costs 128,325  5,617 
Past service costs -  19,681 
Interest costs 3,047  1,497 

131,372 26,795 

 398,274  893,159 
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21. Retirement benefits obligations  Group (continued) 
 
Changes in the present value of the unfunded retirement benefits liability are determined as follows: 
 
 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Balance at beginning of year 1,799,863  973,000 
Current service costs 329,818  187,225 
Past service costs -  656,015 
Interest costs 68,456  49,919 
Benefits paid (202,641)  (107,233) 
Actuarial loss (gain) due to: 
Changes in financial assumptions 

 
(90,653) 

  
125,838 

Experience adjustments (33,202)  (122,168) 
Changes in demographic assumptions -  37,267 

Balance at year end 1,871,641  1,799,863 
 
The principal assumptions used in determining the defined benefit retirement plan obligations are as 
follows: 
 2021  2020 

Discount rate 5.13%  3.94%-4.09% 
Salary increase rate 2.00%  2.00% 
Expected remaining working lives of employees 4 years  4-11 years 
 
Turnover rate 

14% at age 18 
decreasing to 0% at 

age 60 

 13% at age 18 
decreasing to 0% at 

age 60 
 
 
Mortality rate 

2017 Philippine 
Intercompany 

Mortality Table 

 2017 Philippine 
Intercompany 

Mortality Table 
 
 
Disability rate  

1952 Disability 
Study, Period 2, 

Benefit 5 

 1952 Disability 
Study, Period 2, 

Benefit 5 
 
The sensitivity analyses below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the defined benefits retirement liability as at the end of the reporting period, 
assuming all other assumptions were held constant:  
 
 Increase/  2021  2020 

  (decrease)  US$  US$ 
Discount rates +1%  1,766,379  1,781,544 
 -1%  1,913,447  1,959,201 
Salary pay increases +1%  1,924,515  1,969,651 

 
  



METALS EXPLORATION PLC 
 
 

-74 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
21. Retirement benefits obligations  Group (continued) 
 
Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments: 
 
   2021  2020 

   US$  US$ 

Less than one year   67,293  98,896 
More than one year to five years   3,675,966  378,213 
More than five years to 10 years   -  3,727,830 

   3,743,259  4,204,939 
 
22. Trade and other payables due within one year 
 
Group 2021  2020 

 US$  US$ 
Trade payables 4,071,263  5,596,124 
Other payables 1,759,573  2,376,044 
Other tax and social security payable 173,154  99,079 
Accruals 4,324,010  3,961,239 

10,328,000 12,032,486 
 

Company 2021 2020 
US$ US$ 

Trade payables 265,323 138,023 
Other tax and social security payable 1,434 50,089 
Accruals 122,570  174,570 

389,327  362,682 
 
Trade payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going costs, and together with 
other payables and accruals are measured at amortised cost.  
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23. Loans  
 
Group  
In May 2014 the Group entered into a loan with two foreign international resource banks for 
US . In January 2020 the Facility Agreement was 
acquired by companies associated with the Mez  
 
In October 2020 the Group completed a debt restructuring with the New Lenders, whereby the Group no 

repayment of that amount which equals the available net working capital ) over and above a 
minimum US$5 million NWC buffer. e cash on hand plus gold sales 
proceeds due, and gold doré on hand or in transit, less all current liabilities (including budgeted operational, 
CAPEX and exploration expenses, taxes, hedging costs and government charges, but excluding all unpaid 
debt principal and interest). During FY2021 the Group made regular monthly repayments to pay down the 
New Senior Debt faster than the minimum amount required under the restructured arrangements. 
 
The principal plus capitalised interest balance owing by the Group under the Facility Agreement as at 31 
December 2021 was US$24,570,061 (2020: US$61,289,409). 
 
Since 2015 the Company has entered into numerous facility agreements with two major shareholders, MTL 

unsecured advances was for general corporate and working capital requirements of the Company and to 
enable completion of the Runruno Project.  

 
As at 31 December 2021  
 

2021 2020 

US$ US$ 

Senior Lenders loans due within one year* 24,570,061 30,000,000 

Mezzanine Lenders loans due within one year* -  - 

Less: Capitalised debt restructuring transaction costs** (735,782)  (735,782) 

Total loans due within one year 23,834,279  29,264,218 

  

Senior Lenders loans due after one year* -  31,289,409 

Mezzanine Lenders loans due after one year* 79,043,427  68,083,454 
Less: Remaining value of warrants issued in conjunction with mezzanine 
loans (187,159)  (486,695) 

Less: Capitalised debt restructuring transaction costs** -  (735,782) 

Total loans due after one year 78,856,268 98,150,386 

 
* Given the Group is not subject to a fixed repayment schedule, in accordance with the new debt facilities, there is no 
certainty to what amount of debt will be repaid within one year from balance date. Thus the determination of what debt is 
deemed current and what is deemed non-current is subject to estimation. In making this calculation the Group has taken into 

ncipal repayments will be made during the 2022 year. Refer to Note 2 for further 
discussion of this estimation.  
 
** Transaction costs incurred during 2020 in relation to the October 2020 debt restructuring have been capitalised in 
accordance with accounting standard IFRS9. The capitalised debt restructuring transaction costs are being amortised to profit 
and loss over the relevant expected debt repayment terms. 
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23. Loans (continued) 
 
Company  
In the period 2015-2018, the Company entered into numerous facility agreements with its Mezzanine 
Lenders. The purpose of these advances was for general corporate and working capital requirements of the 
Company and to enable completion of the Runruno project. 
 
In October 2020 under the debt restructuring the various original mezzanine facilities were consolidated 

There is no 
obligation to make any repayment of any amounts due under the New Mezzanine Facilities until the New 
Senior Debt is fully repaid. The New Mezzanine Facility interest rate will initially be 15% per annum, 
reducing to 7% per annum once the New Senior Debt has been fully repaid. This is expected to occur in Q4 
2022. 
 
The principal and accrued interest/fees balance owing by the Company to the Mezzanine Lenders as at 31 
December 2021 was US$79,043,427 (2020: US$68,083,454). 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the mezzanine loan position was: 
 

2021 2020 

US$ US$ 

Mezzanine Lenders loans due within one year* - - 

  

Mezzanine Lenders loans due after one year* 79,043,427 68,083,454 

Less: Remaining value of warrants issued in conjunction with loans (187,159)  (486,695) 

Total loans due after one year 78,856,268  67,596,759 

 
* Under the October 2020 debt structure no mezzanine debt is payable until the full repayment of the New Senior Debt.  Full 
repayment of the New Senior Debt is expected to occur in Q4 2022. Refer to Note 2 for discussion of t
of what principal repayments will be made during the 2022 year. 
 
These Company loan liabilities are included in the Group loans above. 
 
  



METALS EXPLORATION PLC 
 
 

-77 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
24. Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning 
 

2021 2020 

US$ US$ 
At 1 January 2021 3,291,388 2,880,092 
Unwinding of discount and effect of change in estimate 723,662 411,296 
    

At 31 December 2021 4,015,050 3,291,388 

 
The Group makes provision for the future cost of rehabilitation of the process plant on a discounted basis. 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning represents the present value of future rehabilitation 
and decommissioning costs. These provisions have been created based on the Group internal estimates. 
These estimated costs were reviewed in December 2021 and include labour, equipment hire, consumables 
and transportation for disposal. Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, have been 
made which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. 
However, actual costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary works required 
which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of the rehabilitation and 
expenditure of other costs is likely to depend on when the mine ceases to produce at economically viable 
rates, and the timing that the event for which the other provisions provided for will occur.   
 
25. Called up share capital 
 

2021 2020 

US$ US$ 
Allotted ordinary shares at 1 January 2021 
(2,071,334,586 ordinary shares of £0.01 par value) 27,950,217 27,950,217 

  
Allotted ordinary share at 31 December 2021 
(2,071,334,586 ordinary shares of £0.01 par value) 27,950,217 27,950,217 

 
Share rights 
Ordinary shares confer the right to vote and to participate in dividends, capital, and other distributions 
including on winding up. Ordinary shares are not redeemable. 
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26. Share-based payments 
 
Share options 
During the financial year the Company issued 19,800,000 options, exercisable at nominal par value on or 
before 28 October 2024. There were no share options on issue as at 31 December 2020. 

2021 
 

Number of options 

2021 
Average weighted 

exercise price £ 

Options on issue at 1 January 2020 - - 
Options issued 19,800,000 0.01 

  

Options on issue at 31 December 2021 19,800,000 0.01 

Options that have vested as at 31 December 2021 6,600,000  0.01 
 

These options are subject to the following vesting conditions: 

 Provided the option holder remains a director then, one third vest upon issue, one third vest on the 
first anniversary of issue and one third vest upon the second anniversary of issue; and 

 The options 
Company share traded on AIM exceeds £0.0215 during the life of the option. 

 
The share based payment expense, based upon a fair value measurement of the options, recognised in 
2021 was US$10,982(2020: Nil).  
 
This fair value measurement of the share options issued in October 2021 was £0.007 per option, based 
upon the following: 

 A Black-Scholes option valuation model was adopted, 
 A share price at the date of option issue of £0.015, 
 An option exercise price of £0.01, 
 An estimated share volatility of 50%, 
 An option life of 3 years, 
 Nil dividends during the life of the options, 
 A risk free interest rate of 2%, 
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27. Compound financial instruments 
 
Warrants 
During the year ended 31 December 2017, two tranches of warrants were issued by the Company in 
conjunction with securing a past mezzanine funding package.  
 Tranche 1 Tranche 2 

Exercise Price* £0.055 £0.070 

Expiry Date 31 December 2023 31 December 2023 

Number of warrants* 75,000,000 25,000,000 

 
The fair value of these warrants as at the date of issue was independently calculated to be US$1,526,937 
and has been brought to account as an equity reserve. The unwinding of the fair value of these warrants is 
charged through the statement of comprehensive income. There were no warrants issued in 2021 or 2020. 
 
* At the forthcoming AGM, it is proposed that the Company undertake a capital reorganisation that includes a sub-division of 

If approved, this 
proposed capital reorganisation will have no impact upon the number of warrants on issue, the warrant exercise prices or the 
warrant expiry dates. 
 
28. Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  
 

Group 2021  Restated 2020 
US$   US$  

Profit before tax 11,304,405  9,433,419 
Depreciation and amortisation  19,369,583  16,982,235 
Provisions 735,529  929,756 
Impairment charge 1,450,078  2,328,414 
Share of profits of associates (18,232)  (2,625) 
Share based payment expense 10,982  - 
Loss on disposal of asset 78,206  - 
Interest paid classified as financing activity 2,422,070  667,926 
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (1,498,514)  1,465,886 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables  4,286,820  (10,383,175) 
(Increase) in inventories (2,597,142)  (5,142,286) 
Increase in payables 10,971,983  12,529,899 

   

Net cash provided by operating activities  46,515,768  28,809,449 
 
Company 2021  2020 

US$   US$  
Profit before tax 11,953,382  11,308,987 
Impairment (reversal) (23,853,800)  (22,987,091) 
Provisions 332,996  - 
Share based expense 10,982  - 
Foreign exchange (gain) (16,001)  (46,850) 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (97,371)  294,481 
Increase in payables 11,305,093  11,514,472 

   

Net cash used in operating activities  (364,719)  83,999 
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29. Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities 
 
 
Group 

1 January 
2021 

 
Cash flow 

Non-cash 
movements 

31 December 
2021 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
Loans (current)  30,000,000 (39,675,000) 34,245,061 24,570,061 
Loans (non-current) 99,372,863 - (20,329,436) 79,043,427 
Non-cash deferred borrowing costs and warrant discount (1,958,259) - 1,035,318 (922,941) 
 127,414,604 (39,675,000) 14,950,943 102,690,547 

 
 
 
Company 

1 January 
2021 

 
Cash flow 

Non-cash 
movements 

31 December 
2021 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
Loans (current) - - - - 
Loans (non-current) 68,083,454 - 10,959,973 79,043,427 
Non-cash deferred warrant discount (487,695) - 300,536 (187,159) 

 67,595,759 - 11,260,509 78,856,268 

 
30. Capital commitments 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the Group had US$nil outstanding capital commitments (2020: US$nil). 
 
31. Related party transactions 
 
Only members of the Board of Directors of Metals Exploration plc are deemed to be key management 
personnel. The Board has responsibility for planning, controlling and directing the activities of the Group. 
Key management compensation is disclosed in note 7  and note 26, Share-
based payments. uments: 
 
Amounts owing to Directors   2021 Restated 2020 
   US$ US$ 
D Bowden1   573,479 366,0002 
D Cather3   2,811 - 
G Walker   11,243 - 
 
Amounts owing to related parties 

    

Runruno Holdings Limited4   - 8,487 

   - 8,487 

 
1 Includes consulting fees due to private consulting company and year-end performance bonus accruals. 
2 2020 disclosure omitted the year-end accrual of an unpaid bonus of US$360,000.  
3 Includes consulting fees due to private consulting company. 
4 Excluding loan amounts disclosed in note 23. 
 
Fees in relation to corporate broking and research services were paid to Hannam & Partners, of which Non-
Executive Director Mr A Chubb is a partner. In the FY2021, the total fees paid to Hannam & Partners, while 
Mr Chubb was a director, was US$35,000.  
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31. Related party transactions (continued) 
 
During the year, the Company received funds from a subsidiary to fund operations. At the year end, the 
Company had loans due by its subsidiaries totaling US$253 million (2020: US$272 million). As at 31 
December 2021 these loan amounts owed by subsidiaries were impaired to a net recoverable amount of 
US$88 million (2020: US$65million). (Refer note 8(b)). 
 
At the year end, the Group owed US$78,895 (2020: US$92,500) to its associates and the Group was owed 
US$2.29 million (2020: US$3.07 million) from its associates.  
 
32. Financial instruments 
 
The Group's financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, derivative gold price 
and currency contracts, and items such as trade payables and trade receivables which arise directly from its 
operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group's 
operations.  
 
The carrying values of financial assets at the year-end are as follows: 
 
 
Group 

   
Cash and cash 

equivalents 

Trade and 
other 

receivables 

 
 

Total 
   US$ US$ US$ 

As at 31 December 2021   4,736,970 6,773,794 11,510,764 

As at 31 December 2020   8,931,792 13,180,824 22,112,616 

Company      

As at 31 December 2021   199,978 88,608,508 88,808,486 

As at 31 December 2020   569,732 65,054,691 65,624,423 

 
Cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables are held at amortised cost.  
 
The carrying values of financial liabilities at the year-end are as follows: 
 
 
Group 

 
Trade 

payables 

Accruals and 
other 

payables 

 
Derivative 

liabilities 

 
 

Loans 

 
 

Total 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

As at 31 December 2021 4,071,263 6,083,583 332,996 102,690,547 113,178,389 

As at 31 December 2020 5,596,514 5,849,545 - 127,414,604 138,860,273 

Company      

As at 31 December 2021 265,323 122,570 332,996 78,856,268 79,577,157 

As at 31 December 2020 138,023 174,570 - 67,596,759 67,909,352 

 
Trade payables, accruals and other payables and loans are held at amortised cost.  
 

 liquidity risk, foreign currency 
exchange rate risk, commodity price risk and credit risk. The policies set by the Board of Directors are 
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32. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk 
The Group actively monitors its cash resources to ensure it has sufficient available funds for operations and 
planned expansions. The Group has been cash flow positive in both 2020 and 2021 and surplus funds are 
being applied, in the main, 2020 debt restructuring 
provides the Group with a greater degree of liquidity certainty due to the ability to hold a minimum of US$5 
million in net working capital without risk of default under the Group lending facilities. 
 
The contractual maturities of the financial liabilities at the year-end are as follows: 

Group 

 
Trade and 

other payables 

 
 

Derivative 
liabilities 

 
Loans* 

 
Total* 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ 

As at 31 December 2021     

1  6 months 10,154,846 332,996 16,000,000 26,487,842 
6  12 months - - 8,570,061 8,570,061 
1  2 years - - 27,625,000 27,625,000 
2  5 years - - 51,418,427 51,418,427 

Total contractual cash flows 10,154,846 
 

332,996 103,613,488 114,101,330 
 
As at 31 December 2020 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
1  6 months 11,446,059 - 15,632,109 27,078,168 
6  12 months - - 13,632,109 13,632,109 
1  2 years - - 30,553,627 30,553,627 
2  5 years - - 67,596,759 67,596,759 

Total contractual cash flows 11,446,059 - 127,414,604 138,860,663 

Company 
Trade and other 

payables 

 
Derivative 

liabilities Loans* Total* 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ 

As at 31 December 2021     
1  6 months 387,893 332,996 - 720,889 
6  12 months - - - - 
1  2 years - - 27,625,000 27,625,000 
2  5 years - - 51,418,427 51,418,427 

Total contractual cash flows 387,893 
 

332,996 79,043,427 79,764,316 
     
As at 31 December 2020     
1  6 months 312,593 - - 312,593 
6  12 months - - - - 
1  2 years - - - - 
2  5 years - - 67,596,759 67,596,759 

Total contractual cash flows 312,593 - 67,596,759 67,909,352 
 

debt repayment arrangements. In addition the timing of future loan principal repayments can only be estimated (Refer note 2 
 Accounting estimates).  
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32. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the average interest rate applicable  outstanding loans was 13.1% 
(2020: 11.0%) and 15.0% (2020: 15.0%) .  
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group or Company if counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Group and Company are exposed to credit risk attributable to its 
cash balances; however, this risk is limited because the counterparties are large international banks. 
 
The Group is exposed to credit risk for trade receivables due from third parties. This risk is limited because 
the counterparties to the gold sales are internationally recognised substantial organisations. Further, the 
Group receives significant payment for the gold upon the presentation of transportation documents. Based 
on the above the Group considers the expected credit loss to be immaterial and no provision for expected 
credit loss has been required (2020: US$nil) 
 
Other receivables include VAT on importations and other goods and services paid by the Group, 
notwithstanding the Group is exempt, under the terms of its FTAA, from these imposts until July 2022. An 
impairment charge has been raised on the basis that the Group continues to have little success in advancing 
its legal challenges to recover these receivables. As at 31 December 2021 an impairment charge of $5.08 
million has been recognised. All VAT paid for the period up to 31 December 2019 has been impaired as at 
31 December 2021 (2020: All VAT paid for the period up to 31 December 2018). 
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk to the extent that amounts owed by its subsidiaries and associates 
may not be recoverable in the future. An impairment reversal has been raised in relation amounts owed by 
its subsidiaries to partly reverse a 2018 expected credit loss. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year-end is best represented by the carrying amounts of trade 
and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents.  
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32. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Market risk and sensitivity analysis 
Commodity price risk 
The market price of gold is one of the most significant factors in determining the profitability of the 
operations. The price of gold is subject to volatile price movements over short periods of time and is 
affected by numerous industry and macro-economic 2021 
the gold price ranged from US$1,712 to US$2,007 per ounce, and the Group received an average gold 
selling price of US$1,792 per ounce (2020: US$1,782 per ounce).  
 
The Group has adopted a policy to implement a gold price hedge strategy over no more than 40% of annual 
production by entering into zero cost gold price collars. Refer to note 20 for the  December 2021 
financial instruments with exposure to gold prices. 
 
The e financial 

profit before tax being decreased/increased by US$12,985,000 
(2020: US$12,210,000). The impact is expressed on the assumption that the market price changes by 10% 
with all other variables held constant.  
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group has interest bearing assets comprising cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at a 
variable rate. Interest income is not material to the Group. 
 
The Group has fixed interest bearing liabilities and the impact on the reported profit for the year is an 
interest expense of US$13,937,521 (2020: US$14,914,952).  
 
Foreign currency exchange rate risk 
The Group and Company are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk having cashflows 
predominantly in US Dollars, Philippine Pesos and Pounds Sterling. The Group monitors exchange rates 
actively and converts funds raised to other currencies when deemed appropriate in order to meet expected 
future foreign currency commitments.  
 
The Group exchange rate. During 2021 the Group converted US$74.0 
million into Philippine Peso (2020: US$72.6 million). A 10% increase/decrease in the US Dollar during the 
year, with all other variables held constant, would have resulted in the profit before tax profit being US$6.7 
million higher or US$8.2 million lower (2020: US$6.6 million higher or US$8.1 million lower). Refer to note 
20  hedging instruments to protect against currency risk. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the Group had Philippine Pesos denominated assets and liabilities including cash of 
$584,000 and current liabilities of $7,726,000 (2020: cash of US$1,485,000 and current liabilities of 
US$9,843,000). The currency risk exposure from these assets and liabilities is covered by the Philippine 
currency forward contracts in place as at 31 December 2021. Refer to note 20 for details of the 
hedging instruments to protect against currency risk. There was no currency risk cover in place as at 31 
December 2020. 
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33. Capital risk management 
 

concern to provide returns for shareholders and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings (note 23), cash and cash 
equivalents (note 18) and equity (note 25). 
 
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
34. Contingent liabilities 
 
The Group has no contingent liabilities identified as at 31 December 2021 (2020: US$nil). 
 
35. Post balance sheet events 
There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen after balance date that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Group in future financial periods, other than: 
 

 the Group has made interest and principal debt repayments of US$12.0 million. 
 
36. Ultimate controlling parties 
As part of the October 2020 debt restructuring, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) 
under which the Company is obligated to seek prior approval from both the mezzanine lenders, MTL 
Luxemburg SARL (MTLL) and Runruno Holdings Limited (RHL), for a number of operational matters. If these 
prior approvals are not properly 
situation all outstanding debt becomes due and payable, and MTLL and RHL become entitled to a 
penalty/termination payment of £2 million each. The RCF operates for 10 years after the full repayment of 
the existing Group debt unless otherwise terminated by the Company by payment of the £2 million 
termination penalty to both MTLL and RHL. In March 2021, RHL assigned its interests in both the senior 
facility and the major mezzanine facility to D & A Holdings Limited (an associated company controlled by 
the same entity). 
 
Although the Company has no ultimate controlling party, as a result of the above both MTLL and RHL are 
considered parties holding significant influence. MTLL owns 46.8% of the Company, while RHL holds 19.0% 
of the Company. 
 
 


